
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday, 9th October, 2012 

 
10.00 am 

 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 

Maidstone 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 





 

AGENDA 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
 

Tuesday, 9th October, 2012, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: 01622 694342 

   
Tea/Coffee will be available from 9:30 outside the meeting room 

 
Membership  (18) 
 
Conservative (16): Mr J A Davies (Chairman), Mr C P Smith (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr R E Brookbank, Mr A R Chell, Mr T Gates, Mr W A Hayton, 
Mr C Hibberd, Mrs S V Hohler (Substitute), Mr P J Homewood, 
Mr J D Kirby, Mr J F London, Mr S C Manion, Mr R F Manning, 
Mr R J Parry, Mrs P A V Stockell, Mrs E M Tweed and 
Mr A T Willicombe 
 

Liberal Democrat (1):   
 

Independent (1) Mr R J Lees 
 

 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public 

 

A.   COMMITTEE BUSINESS 

1. Substitutes  

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  

3. Minutes - 24 July 2012 (Pages 1 - 4) 

4. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  

B. GENERAL MATTERS 

1. Probity in Planning (Pages 5 - 16) 

C.  MINERALS AND WASTE DISPOSAL APPLICATIONS 

D.  DEVELOPMENTS TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

1. Proposal SE/12/1577 (KCC/SE/0140/2012) - Redevelopment of existing school site 
at Knole Academy, Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks; KCC Property and 
Infrastructure Group (Pages 17 - 60) 



2. Proposal SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) - Three single storey extensions to 
main school building and provision of new ramp to front entrance at Ethelbert Road 
Primary School, Ethelbert Road, Faversham; KCC Education, Learning and Skills 
(Pages 61 - 80) 

E.  COUNTY MATTERS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

1. County matter applications (Pages 81 - 90) 

2. Consultations on applications submitted by District Councils or Government 
Departments  

3. County Council developments  

4. Screening opinions under Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 1999  

5. Scoping opinions under Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 1999  
(None)  

F.  OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
(01622) 694002 
 
(Please note that the background documents referred to in the accompanying papers may 
be inspected by arrangement with the Departments responsible for preparing the report.  
Draft conditions concerning applications being recommended for permission, reported in 
sections C and D, are available to Members in the Members’ Lounge.) 
 
Monday, 1 October 2012 
 



 

29 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Planning Applications Committee held in the Council 
Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 24 July 2012. 
 
PRESENT: Mr J A Davies (Chairman), Mr C P Smith (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr R E Brookbank, Mr A R Chell, Mr W A Hayton, Mr C Hibberd, Mr J D Kirby, 
Mr J F London, Mr S C Manion, Mr R F Manning, Mr R J Parry, Mr M B Robertson, 
Mrs P A V Stockell, Mr R Tolputt (Substitute for Mr P J Homewood), Mrs E M Tweed 
and Mr A T Willicombe 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group), 
Mr M Clifton (Team Leader - Waste Developments), Mr J Crossley (Team Leader - 
County Council Development), Mr J Dummett (Planning Case Officer), Mr R White 
(Development Planning Manager) and Mr A Tait (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
45. Minutes - 12 June 2012  
(Item A3) 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2012 are correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.  
 
46. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  
(Item A4) 
 
(1)  The Committee noted that there would be no meeting during the month of 
August 2012.  
 
(2)  The Committee also noted that it was due to visit the European Metals 
Recycling Centre at Brunswick Road, Ashford following the meeting. It agreed to hold 
a site visit in respect of the Benenden CE Primary School application on Thursday, 
27 September 2012. 
 
47. Application SW/12/444 (KCC/SW/0098/2012) - Retrospective application for 
the construction and use of a 40m long and 6m wide concrete pad and ancillary 
2.4m high steel palisade fence and gates at  Ridham Dock Road, Iwade, 
Sittingbourne; Countrystyle Recycling Ltd  
(Item C1) 
 
RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a)    permission be granted to the application subject to conditions, including 
conditions covering vehicle numbers being restricted to no more than 3 
sealed container vehicles per day; and dust mitigation measures; and   

 
(b)  the existing site continue to be monitored in accordance with the 

existing planning permission.  

Agenda Item A3

Page 1



 

30 

 
 
48. Proposal DO/11/993 (KCC/DO/0477/201) - Change of use of agricultural 
land to horticultural learning centre and demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of replacement new building at Archers Low Farm, Sandown Road, 
Sandwich; Governors of Stone Bay School  
(Item D1) 
 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported correspondence from 
Sandwich Town Council expressing full support for the application.  
 
(2)  The Head of Planning Applications Group agreed to discuss the possibility of 
upgrading the access track.  
 
(3)  RESOLVED that permission be granted to the proposal subject to conditions, 

including conditions covering the standard time limit condition; the 
development being completed in accordance with approved plans; approval of 
external materials; submission of a travel plan; details and provision of cycle 
parking;  the Incorporation of flood risk mitigation methods and submission of 
a Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme; conditions recommended by the 
Environment Agency in respect of drainage and land contamination; ecological 
mitigation and enhancements; use being limited to that proposed and to users 
from Stone Bay School; parking being restricted to three vehicles; and the 
hours of use being restricted to those proposed.  

 
 
49. Proposal CA/12/464 (KCC/CA/0100/2012) - Replacement of 16 white 
painted, soft wood timber vertical sash windows with pine wood clad with 
white powder coated aluminium facing profile at St Alphege CEI School, Oxford 
Street, Whitstable; KCC Property and Infrastructure  
(Item D2) 
 
RESOLVED permission be granted to the proposal subject to conditions, including 
conditions covering the standard time condition requiring that the development be 
commenced within 5 years; and the development being carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans.  
 
 
50. Proposal SW/12/470 (KCC/SW/0155/2012) - Retrospective application for 
the provision of external storage space for both outdoor play equipment and 
maintenance equipment at Tunstall CE (Aided) School, Tunstall Road, Tunstall, 
Sittingbourne; Governors of Tunstall CE (Aided) School  
(Item D3) 
 
(1)  In agreeing the recommendations of the Head of Planning Applications Group, 
the Committee asked for the inclusion of an Informative to the School that it should 
take care to ensure that it followed the proper planning procedures in future.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED that:-  
 

Page 2



 

31 

(a)  permission be granted to the proposal subject to a condition requiring the 
removal of the units from the site in the event that they are no longer 
needed for storage purposes; and  

 
(b)  the applicants be notified by Informative of the Committee’s concern that 

they should take care to ensure that they follow proper planning 
procedures in future.  

 
 
51. Proposal TW/12/1694 (KCC/TW/0192/2012) - Section 73 application to vary 
Conditions 27 and 28 of Permission TW/10/4051 to allow an alternative 
floodlighting specification relating to the previously permitted floodlit Multi Use 
Games Area on Site 1 at The Skinners Kent Academy, Blackhurst Lane, 
Tunbridge Wells; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support  
(Item D4) 
 
(1)  The Head of Planning Applications Group tabled a set of plans and 
photographs showing various night time views of the vicinity of the site whilst the 
floodlighting was on.  
 
(2)  RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a)   permission be granted for the alternative floodlighting specification 
subject to Conditions 27 and 28 of Permission TW/10/4051 being 
amended to read as follows: - 

 
(i)  Condition (27) 

 
The floodlighting associated with the Multi Use Games Area (Site 1) 
hereby approved shall be maintained at all times as currently set up 
and as detailed in the application. Should it subsequently be deemed 
necessary the applicant shall adjust the set up of the floodlighting 
and/or fit cowls, hoods, shades, shields and/or louvres, in agreement 
with the County Planning Authority, and thereafter the lighting shall be 
maintained as agreed;  

 
Reason: In the interests of protecting surrounding residential amenity 
and pursuant to South East Plan Policy NRM10 and Local Plan Policies 
EN1 and EN8; 

 
(ii)  Condition (28) 
 

The illumination and spill levels associated with the Multi Use Games 
Area (Site 1) shall not exceed those specified within this planning 
application; 

 
Reason: In the interests of protecting surrounding residential amenity 
and pursuant to South East Plan Policy NRM10 and Local Plan Policies 
EN1 and EN8;  

 

Page 3



 

32 

(b)  all other controls placed on Permission TW/10/4051 remain unchanged, 
save for where they have since been updated by subsequent planning 
approvals; and 

 
(c)  the applicant be required to carry out additional interspersed landscape 

planting consisting of a couple of heavy standard evergreen trees (at 
least 3.5 metres high) along the site boundary with Blackhurst Lane. 
The final specification of this additional tree planting shall be agreed 
pursuant to the terms of a site wide landscaping scheme under the 
main Academy redevelopment consent and shall be implemented within 
the first available planting season following the date of this permission.  

 
 
 
52. Matters dealt with under delegated powers  
(Item E1) 
 
RESOLVED to note matters dealt with under delegated powers since the last 
meeting relating to:- 
 

(a) County matter applications;  
 
(b) consultations on applications submitted by District Councils or 

Government Departments (None);  
 

(c) County Council developments;  
 

(d) Screening opinions under Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations 1999; and  

 
(e) Scoping opinions under Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 

1999 (None). 
 
 

Page 4



 
By:  Geoff Wild – Director of Law and Governance 
 
To:  Planning Applications Committee – 9 October 2012 
 
Subject: PROBITY IN PLANNING 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
File Ref: PAC/07/12 
 

Summary: To advise Members of the Committee on the implications of the 
Localism Act upon the Standards Committee’s Advice Note 4 on “the 
Application of the Code of Member Conduct to Development Control” and 
associated advice notes.  The report also recommends a corollary to the Advice 
Note. 
 
FOR DECISION 
 

 
Introduction 
 
1.  The Committee received a report on Probity in Planning on 14 July 2009. 
This is attached at Appendix 1. The Standards Committee’s Advice Note 4 
“Advice to Members on the Application of the Code of Member Conduct to 
Development Control” is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
2.  Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 provides that: 
 

“a decision-maker is not to be taken to have had, or to have appeared to 
have had a closed mind when making a decision to which this Section 
applies just because –  
 
“(a) the decision-maker had previously done anything that directly or 
indirectly indicated what view the decision-maker took, or would or might 
take, in relation to a matter, and 
 
“(b) the matter was relevant to the decision.” 

 
3.  The Government’s intention in respect of this new provision was set out 
in “A Plain English Guide to the Localism Bill” which stated: 
 

“In parallel with the abolition of the Standards Board, the Government 
intends to use the localism Bill to clarify the rules on ‘predetermination’. 
These rules were developed to ensure that councillors came to council 
discussions – on, for example, planning applications – with an open 
mind. In practice, however, these rules have been interpreted in such a 
way as to reduce the quality of local debate and stifle valid discussion. In 
some cases councillors have been warned off doing such things as 
campaigning, talking with constituents, or publicly expressing views on 
local issues, for fear of being accused of bias or facing legal challenge.” 

Agenda Item B1

Page 5



 
The continuing need to avoid Predetermination or Bias 
 
4.  Despite the relaxation provided by Section 25 of the Localism Act, the 
Common Law position remains that no decision-maker is entitled to pre-
determine the decision that they will make.  The Act makes it clear that 
Members have a right to have a preliminary view and can freely discuss and 
publicise their view and voting intentions as they see fit. However, this is on the 
basis that Members must be prepared to listen to all of the arguments and 
evidence before making their decision. It is therefore likely to become a matter 
for the courts to adjudicate on the impact of the new legislation in defining the 
difference between predisposition and pre-determination. 
 
5.  The provisions set out in Kent County Council’s Advice Note 4 (see 
Appendix 1) were made before the Localism Act came into being and aimed to 
provide absolute protection for Members of the Committee by advising that they 
should take no action that could be construed as an indication of pre-
determination or bias.  The change in the law permits greater freedom of 
expression whilst containing the inherent risk of legal challenge.  
 
A suggested corollary to the Advice Note 
 
6. The Council will shortly be adopting a new Code of Conduct for its 
Members.  It would therefore be appropriate to review the content of Advice 
Note 4 in light of that Code.   Until then, the change in the law needs to be 
recognised and accommodated. I have therefore prepared a draft corollary to 
the Advice Note in consultation with the Chairman of this Committee for 
comment. This is attached at Appendix 3.  If agreed, it would be submitted 
(with any amendments) to the Selection and Member Services Committee and 
(subject to that Committee’s views) to the County Council for adoption.   
 

 
Recommendation 
 
7.  That the Committee recommends the draft Corollary to Advice Note 4 (set 
out at Appendix 3) to Selection and Member Services Committee for onward 
submission to the County Council.  
 

 
 
Geoff Wild 
Director of Governance and Law  
01622 694302 
 
Background Documents 
None. 

Page 6



        APPENDIX 1 
By:  Geoff Wild – Director of Law and Governance 
 
To:  Planning Applications Committee – 14 July 2009 
 
Subject: PROBITY IN PLANNING 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
File Ref: PAC/03/09 
 

Summary: To advise Members of the Committee of Standards Committee’s 
Advice Note 4 on “the Application of the Code of Member Conduct to 
Development Control” and associated advice notes. 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
Introduction 
 
1.  The Standards Committee’s Advice Note 4 “Advice to Members on the 
Application of the Code of Member Conduct to Development Control” is 
attached (Appendix 1). 
 
2.  Advice Note 4 takes account of the LGA guidance note “Positive 
Engagement – A Guide for Planning Councillors” (Appendix 2) and the 
Standard Board for England’s Occasional Paper “Predisposition, 
Predetermination or Bias” (Appendix 3). 
 
Predisposition versus Predetermination or Bias 
 
3.  The Advice Note was produced with the distinction between 
Predisposition and Predetermination firmly in mind. The Standards Board’s 
Occasional Paper defines both states of mind and explains that an elected 
Member can vote on a planning application in the event of being predisposed. 
The reason for this is that the Member who is predisposed is in a position to 
have an open mind to the merits of the evidence that is given during the 
Committee meeting itself. 
 
Declarations of Prejudicial Interest 
 
4.  In order to have a prejudicial interest, that interest must be a personal 
one, which is also financial or regulatory to the extent where a member of the 
public, in possession of all the facts would conclude that your personal 
interest (including those of your family and friends) was so significant that 
your decision on the matter would be affected by it.   In such circumstances, 
the Advice Note says that you should take no part in discussion of the 
application, either inside or outside committee meetings.   There is, however, 
provision for you to come to the meeting as a member of the public and 

Page 7



request to address the Committee in the same way as any other member of 
the public is entitled to do.  
 
Predetermination/ Bias and Dual Membership 
 
5.  Predetermination (which is coupled with “Bias” in the occasional paper) 
precludes the Member from voting on a planning application. Significantly, the 
Occasional Paper explains that Members “must not even appear to have 
already decided how they will vote at the meeting, so that nothing will change 
their mind.” 
 
6.  Members must ensure that the Code is strictly followed in respect of 
dual membership.  Paragraph 11 of the Advice Note sets out that they must 
be able to demonstrate that they came to the debate with an open mind and 
that they have not formed a predetermined or fixed view.  
 
7.  Paragraph 12 of the Advice Note explains what Members should do 
whenever a future planning application is considered by a District/Parish 
Council, KCC Board or any other body of which they are a Member. Members 
should make a point of declaring that they will consider the matter afresh at 
the Planning Applications Committee meeting.  They may also feel that is 
appropriate to ask that this declaration is minuted, although the Advice Note 
does not insist upon it. 
 
8.  Paragraph 13 of the Advice Note advises that Members should declare 
an interest when that item comes forward to the Planning Applications 
Committee. In order to be able to participate in the decision-making, Members 
must be in a position to declare that although they have participated in a 
previous discussion(s) on this matter, they have not yet reached a final 
conclusion and are not bound by the views of the Parish/ District 
Council/Board, etc.  
 
9.  The Advice Note recommends that any Member who does not believe 
that they can safely declare an absence of predetermination should treat this 
item as though they have a prejudicial interest and leave the meeting during 
discussion of that item or arrange to be substituted during the meeting.  They 
can choose to speak as the Local Member but must make a clear declaration 
that this is what they are going to do (see paragraph 10 below).  It is perfectly 
acceptable to return to the meeting as a Member of the Committee once 
consideration of that item has concluded as the declaration of prejudicial 
interest only covers the item itself and does not apply to the whole meeting.  
 
10.  Paragraphs 24-27 of the Advice Note permit those Members of this 
Committee who wish to speak as the Local Member to resume the role of 
Committee Member once that particular item of business has concluded. 
Local Members who choose to represent the views of their constituents on a 
particular item do not intrinsically have a prejudicial interest. They must, 
however, make a clear declaration of their intention to speak as the Local 
Member and explain that they will refrain from voting on that item. 
 

Page 8



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
10.  I recommend that the Committee notes the Standards Committee’s 
Advice Note 4 as set out in Appendix 1 to the report. 

 
 
 
Geoff Wild 
Director of Law and Governance 
01622 694302 
 

 
Background Documents 
None. 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                             APPENDIX 2 

  

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
Advice Note 4 

 
(Approved by the Standards Committee on 27 April 2009) 

 
 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON THE APPLICATION OF 
THE CODE OF MEMBER CONDUCT TO DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

 
 
1. This note gives advice to Members who: 
 

• are members of the Planning Applications Committee 

• sit in on a meeting of the Planning Applications Committee as a substitute 
Member 

 
2. The provisions of the Code of Member Conduct regarding conduct, the 
registration and declaration of interests, and the acceptance and registration of gifts 
and hospitality, apply to the proceedings of the Planning Applications Committee and 
other discussions in which Members may become involved on planning applications 
and other development control proposals. 
 
3. The Local Government Association, supported by the Standards Board for 
England, has issued a short but useful guidance note Positive engagement - a guide 
for planning councilors (updated version). Separately the Standards Board for England 
has also issued a more detailed and helpful occasional note Predisposition, 
Predetermination or Bias, and the Code. Copies of these documents are obtainable 
from Democratic Services.  
 
4. Where this note refers to an application, it applies also to any other decision 
coming before the Council as a local planning authority that is not the responsibility of 
the Leader and Cabinet. 
 
Interests 
 
5. If you have a personal interest in an application make sure you declare this at 
any meeting. It would be prudent also to notify the Monitoring Officer in writing so that 
the interest can be publicly recorded in the Register of Members’ Interests. 
 
6. If the interest is a prejudicial one you should take no part in any discussion on 
the application, either inside or outside committee meetings. If you are the Local 
Member, you should arrange for a colleague representing a nearby division to 
represent your constituents. 
 
Executive and Lead Members 
 
7. If you are a Cabinet Member or a Lead Member (including Chairman of the 
Schools or Highways Advisory Boards), you should not take part as a voting Member in 
a debate by the Planning Applications Committee on an application by the Council, e.g. 
for a highway or school scheme. You may, with the Chairman’s consent, speak to other 
Members outside the Committee meeting or at the meeting itself, but you should 
always remind the Member(s) of your responsibilities and position so that they and the 
public are aware of these when considering what you have to say. Take care you are 
not seen to be attempting to exercise undue influence on the other Member(s) through 
your position in the Council or party group. 

Page 11



                                                

  

 
Planning Applications Committee Members 
 
Training 
 
8. Before taking up a position as a voting member of the Planning Applications 
Committee, you should receive basic training in your duties. This will normally take the 
form of a discussion of this advice note with an officer nominated by the Monitoring 
Officer, as well as a discussion with a senior planning officer. 
 
9. Once appointed, you should take part in all training sessions on planning law, 
policy and practice organised for members of the Committee. If you cannot attend, you 
should request a personal briefing from the Planning Officer. 
 
Information 
 
10. You should approach all decisions on applications with an open mind and 
ensure you are as well informed as possible by: 
 

• attending site visits or inspections on applications agreed by the Committee 
wherever possible 

• ensuring you always read the Planning Officer’s report thoroughly and come to the 
meeting prepared to be persuaded to take a different point of view 

• not voting if you have not been present to hear the entire debate, including public 
comments and the Planning Officers’ introduction. 

 
Dual Membership 
 
11. You may take part as a voting member in the consideration of an application by 
the Planning Applications Committee if you also serve on an advisory board, district or 
a parish council which has been consulted on or is otherwise involved with the 
application. Dual membership does not of itself create a prejudicial interest that 
requires you to leave the room. It is, however, necessary for you to be able to 
demonstrate, if challenged, that you came to the debate with an open mind, without 
having previously formed a fixed or predetermined view on the issue and that you have 
considered all the relevant facts and arguments. 
 
12. You should consider carefully what you say at meetings of other boards or 
councils whether you attend as a member of that board or council or as a KCC 
Member. You should declare at those meetings that if you come to consider the matter 
as a voting member of the Planning Applications Committee, you will consider the 
matter afresh, taking into account all the information and views you will then have 
before you, including those expressed at these boards or councils’ meetings.  
 
13. At the Planning Applications Committee meeting you should declare a personal 
(but not necessarily prejudicial) interest as a member of the board or parish/district 
council. You should say if you attended or participated in the board or parish/district 
council meeting but make it clear that you have not reached a final conclusion, but 
instead are considering the matter at Planning Applications Committee meeting afresh 
and not bound by board or parish/district council’s views. 
 
14. If you do not feel able to make such a declaration you should regard yourself as 
having a prejudicial interest. You should declare that interest and leave the meeting 
before consideration of that item. Alternatively, you may wish to arrange to be 
substituted at that meeting and speak instead as a Local Member (assuming the matter 
affects your division). In that case, you must make clear when you speak that you have 
done this and why. 

Page 12



                                                

  

 
15. If you are associated with an external body that is the applicant (or a major 
beneficiary of the proposals, e.g. a school governing body for new school buildings) 
you should not participate as a voting member but declare that interest. With the 
Chairman’s consent you may still speak on the same basis as a Local Member. If you 
have voting rights, you should ensure that your abstention is recorded in the minutes. 
 
Lobbying by local residents, consultees and objectors 
 
16. In any discussions with local residents, objectors or consultees you should be 
careful not to say how you might vote or express any opinion on the merits prior to your 
formal consideration of the matter at the Committee meeting. Explain to those lobbying 
or attempting to lobby you that, whilst you can listen to what is said, it prejudices your 
impartiality to express a firm point of view or an intention to vote one way or another. 
 
17. If you decide to argue vigorously for a particular point of view in relation to an 
application on behalf of some or all of your constituents, or to become a member of a 
lobbying group for or against a specific proposal, you should not exercise your rights at 
the meeting of the Planning Applications Committee to vote or move or second any 
motion or amendment. You should inform the Chairman of this before the meeting 
begins and declare that intention at the beginning of the debate on the item. 
 
18.  If you are a member of a lobby, campaign or other group or association that is 
actively expressing a view on the application or other matter before the Committee, you 
are likely to have a prejudicial interest and should follow the advice in paragraph 14 
above. More detailed advice is available in Advice Note 1 on dual–hatting and 
membership of lobby groups. 
 
Lobbying by Applicants or Developers 
 
19. You should inform the Monitoring Officer in writing if you feel you have been 
exposed to undue or excessive lobbying or approaches (including inappropriate offers 
of gifts or hospitality). 
 
20. You should refer applicants/developers who approach you for planning or 
procedural advice to officers wherever practicable and report any significant contact to 
the Planning Officer. 
 
21. You should not take part in any meeting, presentation or site visit organised by 
applicants or developers unless a Planning Officer is present and can make a written 
file record of the discussion. 
 
22. At any such presentation or discussion: 
 

• ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying your understanding of the 
proposals 

• remember that the presentation is not part of the formal process of debate and 
decision by the Planning Applications Committee 

• be careful not to express any strong view or state how you or other Members might 
vote. 

 
23. If you decide to inspect the site of an application by yourself make sure you stay 
on the public highway or public land. If you are spoken to by an employee or 
representative of the landowner or a local resident, explain who you are and why you 
are looking at the site but follow the preceding advice about not expressing an opinion. 

Page 13



                                                

  

Local Members 
 
24. In discussion with your constituents or others be careful not to give the 
impression that the Planning Applications Committee will approve or refuse the 
application or that it will do anything other than reach a decision in accordance with 
planning law, policy and good practice. 
 
25. If you are a member of the Committee and also the Local Member, remember 
that your overriding duty is to the whole community not just to the people in your ward 
and take account of the need to make decisions impartially. If you do not feel able to do 
this but want to argue the case for your constituents, do not take part in the debate as a 
voting member but make it clear that you are abstaining on that issue and why. You 
may vote on other issues raised in the meeting, or alternatively, you may wish to ask 
your political group to arrange for a substitute for the entire meeting so you can attend 
and speak on the specific item as the Local Member. 
 
26. At a meeting where an application will be considered in which you will 
participate as a Local Member, you should not normally agree to serve as a substitute 
member. 
 
27. If you sit on the applicant/benefiting body (e.g. a school governing body) but are 
not a member of the Planning Applications Committee, make sure if you speak to any 
member of the Committee about the application that they know of your membership 
and interest. Remember that if you speak at the Committee meeting, you have to 
declare your interest before speaking. 

Page 14



APPENDIX 3 
 

COROLLARY TO ADVICE NOTE 4 - ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON THE 

APPLICATION OF THE CODE OF MEMBER CONDUCT TO DEVELOPMENT 

CONTROL 

 

The provisions of Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 revise the 
predetermination rules for Members, given that the rules on bias left many 
Members uncertain about whether they had the right to speak and vote on the 
issues on which they campaigned and were elected.   
 
The changes make it clear that Members have a right to have a preliminary 
view and can freely discuss and publicise their view and voting intentions as 
they see fit. However, this is on the basis that Members must be prepared to 
listen to all of the arguments and evidence before making their decision. 
 
In particular, no views should be expressed by a Planning Applications 
Committee Member in such a manner that a reasonable person would 
reasonably conclude that they have pre-determined the application and/or is 
approaching the decision-making process with a closed mind.  

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION D 
DEVELOPMENT TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Background Documents: the deposited documents; views and representations received as 
referred to in the reports and included in the development proposals dossier for each case; 
and other documents as might be additionally indicated.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Item D1      Item D1      Item D1      Item D1 

Redevelopment of existing school site including the 

erection of a three storey academy building at Knole 

Academy – SE/12/1163 (KCC/SE/0140/2012) 
 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 9 
October 2012. 
  
Redevelopment of existing school site to include: retention of existing school buildings, 
erection of a new three storey Academy building, retention of temporary classroom 
permitted under reference SE/11/258 for a further temporary period until the new academy 
building is finished and decant complete, relocation of storage containers and garage to 
northern perimeter of the site, removal of current nursery building and relocation of use 
within existing academy dance studio, retention of existing hard surfaced games courts and 
sports playing fields and creation of a new All Weather Pitch, and hard and soft 
play/recreation areas. Provision of 195 on site car parking spaces, 12 motorcycle parking 
spaces, 2 mini-bus parking spaces, 1 mini-coach parking bay, 8 bus/coach pickup/dropoff 
bays, 222 cycles spaces. Retention of existing vehicular access entrances onto Bradbourne 
Vale Road, and creation of a new access to the southern car park to provide for a bus drop 
off loop and associated hard and sort landscaping at Knole Academy, Bradbourne Vale 
Road, Sevenoaks - SE/12/1163 (KCC/SE/0140/2012) 
 

 D1.1 

Recommendation: Subject to the views of Sport England, I recommend that the application 
be referred to the Secretary of State as a departure from the Development Plan on Green 
Belt grounds, and that subject to his decision, planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions. 
 

Local Members: Mr N Chard  Classification: Unrestricted 

    

SiteSiteSiteSite    

 

1. Kent County Council is seeking planning permission to construct a new facility for Knole 
Academy in Sevenoaks, on the same site as the existing Academy. The application site 
comprises the existing buildings and grounds of the former Bradbourne School for Girls, 
situated on the west side of Sevenoaks just over a mile from the town centre. The site 
lies on the northern side of the A25 Bradbourne Vale Road, which is a main arterial 
route into and out of Sevenoaks from the west. The application site is 9.36ha, and 
comprises a mix of two and three storey buildings, with some single storey elements, 
largely built in the 1970/80s, but with a newer classroom block and reception area to the 
front of the site. The bulk of the built development on this site is concentrated in the 
south-western corner, with open grassed playing fields and unused scrubland to the 
north east. The existing Academy buildings are set back from the A25, behind an area 
of natural landscaping, parking areas and an access drop off loop. The topography of 
the site slopes down steeply in a northerly direction, away from the A25. As a result, the 
Academy buildings are set at a lower level than the road. From the car parking area and 
drop-off loop, however, the site remains fairly even in terms of gradient.  

  
. 

Agenda Item D1

Page 17



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.2 

SITE LOCATION PLAN 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.3 

EXISTING SITE LAYOUT 
 
 

 

Page 19



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.4 

PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT 
 
 

 
 

Page 20



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.5 

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
 
 

 

Page 21



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.6 

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN 
 

 
 

Page 22



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.7 

PROPOSED SECOND FLOOR PLAN 
 

 
 

Page 23



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.8 

PROPOSED ROOF PLAN 

 
 
 

Page 24



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.9 

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 
 

 
 

Page 25



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.10 

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 
 

 
 

Page 26



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.11 

2. Access to the site for both vehicles and pedestrians is from the A25 Bradbourne Vale 
Road. From the eastbound carriageway there is a dual access which provides entrance 
and exit from this side of the road. Vehicles exiting here are, however, already 
prevented from turning right. From the westbound carriageway the site is accessed via 
a dedicated underpass which extends from Oakdene Road, under the A25 to the 
school. This underpass is two way and allows for both entrance and exit from the site. 
There are footways along the underpass, as well as at the eastbound access. A turning 
loop is located to the front of the site, which allows for two school coaches to enter and 
wait on site at any one time. 109 car parking spaces are currently provided across the 
site. 

 
3. The whole of the school site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt, and outside 

of the settlement confines of Sevenoaks. Adjacent to the northern boundary of the 
Academy site lies Sevenoaks Wildlife Reserve, which is a designated Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). The application site does not lie within any other statutory 
designations. There is little built development surrounding the site, but areas of 
residential development lie to the opposite side of Bradbourne Vale Road, to the south, 
and further east along the road. Two pairs of semi detached cottages lie to the south 
west of the site, with number 4 Oast Cottages lying immediately adjacent to the 
Academy site of the south western boundary. A further detached dwelling lies to the 
west of the Academy site frontage.  

 
4. In light of the site’s Green Belt designation, this application has been advertised as a 

Departure from the Development Plan, and would be referred to the Secretary of State 
for his consideration should Members be minded to permit. A site location plan is 
attached. 

 

BackgroundBackgroundBackgroundBackground    

 
 Academy Status 
 
5. The Knole Academy was formed in 2010 as part of the Government’s Academies 

Programme. The Academy has, until recently, operated from the sites and existing 
buildings of two predecessor schools, Bradbourne School for Girls (on the application 
site), and the Wildernesse School for Boys. The two schools have recently 
amalgamated onto one site, at the former Bradbourne School for Girls, leaving the 
Wildernesse site vacant and redundant in terms of educational provision. Prior to that, 
these schools have expanded to absorb pupil intake from outside of Sevenoaks, 
following the closure of other schools such as Edenbridge. Temporary modular 
accommodation has been provided on the Bradbourne site to accommodate the 
additional pupils as an interim solution, until such time as permanent purpose new build 
facilities are provided. This application seeks to provide the required permanent 
accommodation and associated facilities. 

 
 Amended design 
 
6. Objection was raised by Sevenoaks District Council to the application as originally 

submitted on, amongst other matters, design grounds. As a result of this objection, the 
applicant has made minor amendments to the design including the removal of Brise 
Soleil, reorganisation of roof plant, changing the window design from a domestic 
window to something more suitable in a school, and changing the layout of materials to 
add verticality to the building. The amended design was submitted on the 24 August 
2012, and has been subject to consultation with the District and Town Council, as well 

Page 27



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.12 

as the County Member. It is the amended design that will be discussed and detailed 
within this report.  

 

Proposal 

 
7. This application has been submitted by Kent County Council Property and Infrastructure 

Support, and proposes the erection of an additional academy building and associated 
facilities. The applicant is proposing to re-organise and redevelop the site to provide 
new/re-modelled facilities for the six form entry Knole Academy. The main elements of 
the proposal are as follows:  

 

• New build facilities for 1550 pupils consisting of 1200 pupils aged 11-16 and 350 
sixth formers, together with all requisite teaching/support staff; 

• Provision of external sports facilities including a new all weather pitch and external 
climbing wall facility; 

• New school/community car parking areas with provision for 195 new car parking 
spaces; 

• The re-organisation and re-landscaping of extensive areas of the school site. 
 

Accommodation 
 
8. The existing school buildings are proposed to be retained in their entirety, which have a 

gross internal floor area of around 7650m
2
. In order to accommodate the expansion in 

pupil numbers brought about by the amalgamation with the Wildernesse School for 
Boys, the applicant advises that approximately 7558m

2
 of additional floor space is 

required.  The proposed new build structure is a three storey building to the north of the 
existing school buildings, which would include a four court sports hall and large 
assembly performance hall, in addition to general teaching spaces. The new building 
would have a footprint of 2761m

2
 and would be constructed upon an area of existing car 

parking, in addition to soft and hard landscaped areas, which also accommodate a 
number of temporary storage buildings and a modular building which is home to a 
nursery. It is proposed to relocate the nursery facility to the existing dance studio on 
site, which is a modular building to the south west of the school’s existing built facilities. 
An enlarged parking provision of 195 spaces is proposed in two new parking areas, in 
addition to improved pick-up/drop-off facilities. Access and car parking provision is 
outlined in more detail in paragraphs 13, 14 & 15.  

 
9. The applicant advises that the location of the new building has been selected to a) 

respect the overall use pattern of the site, and b) to enable construction to be 
undertaken whilst the existing buildings remain in operation. The site’s sensitive location 
within the Green Belt has also been taken into consideration by the applicant in the 
preparation of the development layout.  The site breakdown is proposed as follows: 

• Existing building footprint - 4912m
2
 

• Proposed building footprint – 2761m
2
  

• External recreational space excluding formal pitches – 19968m
2
 

• Sports pitches and dedicated perimeter/view areas – 22145m
2
 

• Habitat and planting areas – 30684m
2
 

• Entrances, dedicated visitor access, car/bus parking and service yard – 13164m
2
 

The combined building footprint of the existing and proposed Academy buildings would 
be 7673m

2
, which is 8% of the total site area.  

 
10. Early consultation with the School established what accommodation needed to be 

provided within the new building. The new build and the existing accommodation on site 

Page 28



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.13 

would be reorganised into logical coherent department zones where possible. Changing 
facilities are proposed to be sited between the sports hall at the eastern end of the new 
building, and the performance main hall at the centre of the building, to not only meet 
Sport England requirements, but to allow access from both halls, providing support and 
change areas during staged performances in the main hall. The music department 
would also be located between the two halls, again with convenient adjacency to the 
main performance hall space.  Design & Technology is proposed on the ground floor, to 
the west of the main hall, and science facilities would be located adjacent to this at the 
western end of the building.  An external learning zone is proposed between the existing 
science block and the new building, which would incorporate a science and growing 
garden, an area in which science experiments could be undertaken, and a wildlife 
habitat garden and possible pond. At the first floor level, new science rooms and prep 
laboratories are proposed. On the top floor it is proposed to locate sixth form spaces, 
the art department and the business studies department. Sixth form spaces are located 
so as to maximise high level views across the Sevenoaks Wildlife Reserve, and the art 
department would be located to the western end of the building, to maximise light and to 
enable long distance views. An external climbing wall is proposed on the eastern end of 
the building, on the elevation of the sports hall facing the proposed new car parking 
area. 

 
11. A single storey boiler house/plant room is proposed to be sited to the north of the new 

Academy building, which would have two boiler flues which would extend approximately 
1.1m above the roof.  

 
12. This application also proposes the continued temporary retention of the two storey 

modular classroom block, which was granted permission by the County Council as an 
interim solution to the accommodation problems on site. The classroom block is located 
to the southern corner of the site, to the east of the access road, and was granted 
temporary permission which expired in June 2012. However, this application was 
submitted prior to the expiration of that permission. It is proposed to retain the 
classroom block until the new Academy building as proposed is complete and fully 
operational.  

 
Access and car parking  
 
13. The existing vehicular and pedestrian access arrangements are not proposed to be 

altered in any way as a result of this application, with access via the Bradbourne Vale 
Road, either direct or via the dedicated underpass depending on direction of travel. 
Currently on site there are 109 car parking spaces, approximately 72 of which are 
where the new Academy building is proposed to be constructed. The School was keen 
to maintain its existing bus drop off and queuing arrangements, and so this provision 
would be retained to the front (south) of the site.  

 
14. This application proposes a total of 195 car parking spaces, provided in four separate 

car parks. The existing car park to the south east of the site, adjacent to the existing 
main entrance, would accommodate 2 disabled spaces, in addition to the bus drop off 
loop and mini bus parking. Another existing car park, to the west of the existing access 
road that runs to the rear of the site, would be retained, accommodating a further 8 
spaces. Two new car parks are proposed, the first of which would be located to the east 
of the existing access road and existing buildings, upon the area which currently 
accommodates the two storey modular classroom block referred to above. This car park 
is proposed to accommodate 103 parking spaces. The second of the new car parks is 
proposed to the rear of the site, to the east of the proposed new Academy building. This 
car park would provide 82 car parking spaces, as well as a pick-up/drop-off area, and 

Page 29



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.14 

access through to the service yard behind the new building. Across the site, 10 disabled  
parking bays are proposed, and an additional 7 larger spaces. 11 motorcycle parking 
spaces are also proposed adjacent to the new building. 

 
15.  With regard to bicycle parking, KCC standards require 1 space for every 7 pupils which 

would equate to 222 spaces. The applicant is proposing to provide 136 covered cycle 
spaces at this time, which is the amount required to achieve BREEAM credits. However, 
an area for future expansion would be set aside for the remaining 86 spaces should 
they be required in the future. The cycle parking area is proposed to the south of the 
site, adjacent to the pedestrian only access point from Bradbourne Vale Road.  

 
Design and appearance 
 
16. The applicant advises that the restricted area of land available for development means 

that a three storey building is required to provide the level of floor space required by the 
Academy to accommodate the additional pupils on site. The building has been designed 
with a staggered northern elevation, and an angled sports hall block, which aids in 
breaking down to overall bulk of the building, whilst, the applicant advises, reflecting the 
overall fragmented layout of the existing development. The entrance to the new 
Academy building would be demarcated with a triple height glazed entrance and over 
sailing portico. A double height glazed ‘VIP and circulation area’ sitting above the main 
entrance foyer would provide a dramatic space for internal and external views of the 
building. The angled wall of the sports hall would create an approach plaza to the 
entrance, creating a ‘sense of arrival’. The eastern end of the building, the sports hall 
elevation facing the new car park, would accommodate an external climbing wall.  

 
17. The applicant considers that the main objective for the design appearance of the 

proposed Academy building has been to provide a strong contemporary image that is 
not only in keeping with ‘its strength of purpose and educational orientation and 
specialism’s’, but also in keeping with the sensitivities of the site and surroundings.  The 
façade materials include buff coloured brick, render and curtain walling. The brickwork 
is proposed at ground floor level, with occasional vertical brickwork ‘columns’ on the 
main teaching classroom wing, to serve to balance the length of the building. These 
vertical brickwork elements also act as ‘bookends’, framing areas of rendered façade 
and adding visual weight to the overall appearance of the building. The choice of 
materials is in part to do with robustness, to ensure that the lower levels of the facades 
that are within hands reach can withstand the wear and tear of daily intensive use. The 
applicant advises that the use of masonry also ties in with the existing buildings and the 
paved materials that will form adjoining surfaces. Windows are either cut into the 
masonry or, for more significant elevation openings such as the main entrance foyer, 
are completed in full height curtain walling. The brickwork finish is also proposed to 
extend up to full height of the larger hall volumes to create unified brick clad volumes 
that help break up and articulate the elevations.  

 
18. The upper floors of the Academy building are proposed to be finished in pale rendered 

insulation. As these areas are a storey above ground level they are less susceptible to 
knocks and impact damage. The applicant advises that the choice of material here was 
driven by a desire to create a consistent appearance that blends in with the sky line and 
provides variation across the elevational length of the building. The applicant states that 
they have proposed a propriety insulated render as, when detailed correctly, it 
generates a crisp and lasting appearance and requires little maintenance. Windows and 
curtain walling would be aluminium framed and powder coated. The Academy’s name 
and logo is proposed to be displayed on the brick wall of the sports hall, adjacent to the 
main entrance of the new building.   

Page 30



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.15 

 
19. Since this application has been submitted, further technical design of the building 

structure has mitigated the need for sprinklers, which in turn has enabled a lowering of 
the storey heights. As a result of this, the height of the main teaching block has been 
reduced from 12.5m by 1.1m to 11.4m. The heights of the proposed performance hall 
and sports hall remain unchanged at 9.1m and 9.6m respectively. A number of sun 
tubes and roof lights are proposed to supplement day light in some classroom spaces 
and upper level corridors. Wind catchers and mono draught units are also proposed to 
form part of the ventilation strategy for the building. Solar thermal panels would also be 
strategically placed across the roof.  

 
Community Use 
 
20. It is proposed that the new Academy facilities would play an important role in enhancing 

the community use of the site. The proposed site re-organisation and new provisions 
would allow effective community use of a range of facilities, most noticeably the sports 
hall, climbing wall, performance hall and associated spaces. The applicant advises that 
the proposals have been developed to facilitate the community use of a range of on site 
facilities outside of school hours. Strategic zoning and permit controls would allow for 
restricted access, and facilities provision depending on the user group. The main halls, 
sports and performance areas, and smaller areas such as specific classroom blocks, 
could be segregated to allow for community use. With a separate reception area, the 
new build structure would have a number of natural control points, and separate access 
from the changing rooms to the external sports field and MUGA would allow easy 
access for user groups. The applicant advises that access for all has been designed to 
comply with Sport England guidance and advice. Car parking would be available on site 
to accommodate community users of the facilities.  

 
Ecology and Landscaping 
 
21. An Ecological Scoping Survey was submitted with this application which was 

undertaken to identify the presence or likely presence of any notable protected species 
or habitats. The reports summary and recommendations consider that the 
presence/possible presence of Japanese Knotweed, nesting birds, bats, badgers, 
hedgehogs, reptiles and common toad should be taken into account before and during 
development works. With regard to Japanese Knotweed, it is recommended that a 
skilled and experienced contractor be used to prevent the spread of this highly evasive 
species. Pursuant to this, the applicant advises that the Japanese Knotweed, located to 
the north of the site, has been treated and is under a process of eradication. Three 
herbicide spray treatments were required, the first of which was undertaken in October 
2011, the second in April/May 2012, and the last a month later. The treatment is 
expected to have killed all of the knotweed material. 

 
22. With regard to nesting birds, bats, badgers, hedgehogs and the common toad, 

recommendations are made as to how works should proceed and what should be done 
should such species be discovered. Most of the Academy site is considered to be 
unsuitable for reptile habitats, although the north eastern corner is identified as an area 
which could be suitable for reptiles, particularly slow worms, given the low scrub and 
herb vegetation. The Scoping Survey recommends that, if that area would be affected 
by the proposed development, a presence/likely absence survey for reptiles is carried 
out. If reptiles are found to be present then they should be relocated, either on or off 
site. This survey has subsequently been undertaken which identified the presence of 
slow worms and the common lizard. A reptile mitigation and method statement is 
included within the survey.  

Page 31



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.16 

 
23. It is also important to note that beyond the northern margins of the development area 

and the Academy site boundary, is the Sevenoaks Gravel Pits SSSI. The Scoping 
Survey recommends that reptile fencing should be installed to isolate the SSSI to 
ensure that reptiles could not migrate during the construction works. 

 
24. An Arboricultural Survey and Assessment was also submitted with the planning 

application, in addition to an outline hard and soft landscaping specification. With regard 
to soft landscaping, the applicant advises that planting within the school grounds is 
important to provide enclosure, shelter, interest for wildlife and general visual 
attractiveness. The overriding aims for the landscape design are to retain and enhance 
as much of the soft vegetation on site as possible, and to mitigate any loss where this is 
unavoidable.  

 
25. A small number of individual trees and an area of scrub woodland to the north of the 

site are proposed for removal because they are either too close to the proposed 
building footprint or car parking areas. The trees are largely located to the north of the 
site and are being removed as part of the Japanese Knotweed eradication programme 
in any event. The Arboricultural Report states that the proposal would result in the loss 
of 10 trees and 3 groups of trees, including one category B tree, 8 category C trees and 
groups, and one category R tree (requires removal). No category A trees are to be 
removed. These trees would be replaced and additional trees introduced (44 new trees 
in total) with the same or similar species found elsewhere on site, and would be located 
in parts of the site where they would enhance the character of the Academy, and 
provide seasonal variation. The existing trees to be retained would be protected during 
construction in accordance with BS5837: Trees in Relation to Construction. 

 
26. The applicant advises that the proposed hard landscape material palette has been 

selected to create a good quality, low maintenance and robust scheme. The footway 
areas at the front of the school, across the car parking area entrances and along 
building thresholds are proposed to be delineated with concrete slab paving flags with 
block paving used to delineate the disabled parking bays. The proposed car parking 
areas, and active play areas, would have a continuous tarmacadam surface, whilst 
concrete tactile paving would be used around the science garden. The All Weather 
Pitch would be surfaced with 3G synthetic grass. The wider site boundary would remain 
as existing in terms of fencing and screening. 

 
Security 
 
27. The applicant advises that the security strategy aims to create a safe, reassuring 

environment for students, whilst at the same time welcoming the wider community and 
expressing a civic presence, embodying the Academy’s ‘forward thinking and creative 
learning ethos’. The existing buildings would operate in the same manner to which they 
do currently, with controlled access at the main entrance, car park barriers and CCTV 
surveillance. The entrance to the new Academy building would have a similar controlled 
access arrangement and CCTV coverage. The proposed all weather pitch would also 
be enclosed with fencing to make sure that the surface would not be damaged by 
unofficial use. Safety lighting in accordance with Secure by Design guidelines would be 
provided along the main pedestrian routes, within the main entrance plaza and outdoor 
learning areas, and in the car park. Barriers, drop bollards and secure gates would 
control the zoning of the site, separating public and private areas. 

 
 
 

Page 32



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.17 

Lighting 
 
28. The applicant advises that external lighting of the site would create attractive and safe 

lighting levels in keeping with the character of the landscape. The applicant considers 
that the specific choice of lighting, both in terms of fitting type and lighting levels, would 
address security throughout the site, be attractive, and relate to the character of the 
scheme whilst avoiding light pollution to the surrounding community. Lighting would be 
designed in accordance with ILE Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light, 
and would utilise high efficiency light sources to satisfy BREEAM requirements. 
Proposed column mounted lighting to the access road would provide 10 lux at ground 
level with a minimum uniformity of 0.4, lighting to the car park would provide 10 lux at 
ground level with a minimum uniformity of 0.25, and lighting to pedestrian only routes 
would provide 5 lux at ground level with a minimum uniformity of 0.25. All external 
lighting would be contactor controlled via a photocell and digital timer arrangement, with 
a manual override switch. No lighting of the All Weather Pitch is proposed.  

 
Sustainability 
 
29. The applicant advises that the project would achieve a minimum ‘Very Good’ rating 

under BREEAM for schools. The energy strategy developed by the applicant is based 
around the established hierarchy of reducing energy demand through passive design, 
utilising efficient plant and controls to take full advantage of the passive design, and 
using appropriate low and zero carbon technologies. The applicant proposes to create 
well daylit and naturally ventilated spaces, and aims to incorporate sun pipes, wind 
catchers, rainwater harvesting, mains water leak detection, lighting controls, ground 
source heat pumps, and PV Cells and Solar Thermal Panels into the development.  

 
 
 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement, Planning Statement, 

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment, Landscape Statement, Lighting 
Assessment, Outline Hard and Soft Landscape Specifications, Drainage Assessment 
Report, Ecological Scoping Survey, Ground Investigation Report, Additional Ground 
Investigation Report, Proposed Remediation Strategy, Acoustic Assessment, Acoustic 
Strategy, Renewable Energy Assessment, BREEAM Pre-Assessment, Transport 
Assessment and Travel Plans, Arboricultural Survey/Assessment, Archaeology 
Assessment, Flood Risk Assessment, Statement of Community Involvement,, Utilities 
Statement and Site Waste Management Strategy.  

 
Reduced copies of the submitted drawings showing the site layout, elevations and 
access are attached. 

    

PlanPlanPlanPlanningningningning Policies Policies Policies Policies     

 

30. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The NPPF is planning policy guidance and a material consideration for the 
determination of planning applications.  It does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan which remains the starting point for decision making.  The NPPF 
replaces the majority of the Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPGs) and Planning 
Policy Statements (PPSs), although PPS10 relating to Planning for Sustainable 
Waste Management is currently retained. 

  

Page 33



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.18 

The NPPF contains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The new 
Framework refers to the UK Sustainable Development Strategy Securing the Future 
which sets out 5 guiding principles for sustainable development: living within the 
planet's environmental limits; ensuring a strong, healthy and just society, achieving a 
sustainable economy; promoting good governance and using sound science 
responsibly.  In terms of the planning system, the NPPF identifies that there are 3 
dimensions to sustainable development which create 3 overarching roles in the 
planning system -- economic, social and environmental. These roles are mutually 
dependent.  Within the over-arching roles there are 12 core principles that planning 
should achieve.  These can be summarised as:  

1. be genuinely plan-led;  

2. a creative exercise in finding ways to enhance and improve the places people live 
their lives;  

3. proactively drive and support sustainable economic development;  

4. secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity;  

5. take account of the different roles and character of different areas, including 
protecting Green Belts, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and supporting thriving rural communities;  

6. support the transition to a low carbon future, taking account of flood risk and costal 
change and encourage the reuse of existing resources and the development of 
renewable energy;  

7. contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing 
pollution;  

8. encourage the effective use of land by reusing brownfield land, providing that it is not 
of high environmental value;  

9. promote mixed use developments;  

10. conserve heritage assets;  

11. manage patterns of growth to make fullest use of public transport, walking and 
cycling and focus significant development in locations which can be made 
sustainable;  

12. take account of strategies to improve health, social and cultural well being, and 
deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs.  

 
In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this development 
proposal, the following NPPF guidance is particularly relevant:   
 
The NPPF sets out the Government’s objectives for promoting sustainable growth 
and prosperity, whilst planning for strong vibrant and healthy communities. Good 
design is identified as important for sustainable development, with the planning 
system expected to promote good design for all development. Green Belt protections 
are maintained within the NPPF (section 9), which carries forward the principles of 
the former PPG2, in that inappropriate development harmful to Green Belt should not 
be permitted. However, land within the Green Belt that has been developed in the 
past may be used for new development in some circumstances. Local Authorities are 

Page 34



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.19 

also required to enhance the Green Belt, by the introduction of paths, ecological 
enhancement and planting, for example. As part of the Governments objective to 
promote healthy and sustainable communities, paragraph 72 of the NPPF states that 
Local Planning Authorities should give great weight to the need to create, expand or 
alter schools, ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet 
the demand of existing and new communities. The Framework also requires that 
local planning authorities should look for solutions rather than problems.  It states 
that those determining applications should seek to approve applications for 
sustainable development where possible.  The NPPF also sets out planning’s 
important role in tackling climate change, protecting the natural environment, 
protecting and enhancing biodiversity, limiting noise and light pollution, and 
protecting the historic environment. Section 7 of the NPPF (in particular paragraphs 
56-64) set out guidance to achieve good design.  
    

 The Government is committed to the principles of the Green Belt and to maintaining 
tight planning controls over development on Green Belt land. It is expected that all 
planning applications for development in the Green Belt be subject to the most 
rigorous scrutiny, having regard to the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy as set 
out in the NPPF; that is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open.  
The openness of Green Belts is considered to be their most important attribute and 
therefore there is a general presumption against inappropriate development, which is 
by definition harmful and should not be permitted, unless it can be justified by very 
special circumstances. 

 

Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development  15 August 2011 
 
 

31. (i) The adopted South East Plan 2009: 
 

Policy SP5 Refers to Green Belts, supporting their retention. 

 

Policy CC1  Seeks to achieve and maintain sustainable development in the 
region. 

 

Policy CC4  Refers to sustainable design and construction. 
 

Policy CC6 Refers to sustainable communities and character of the 
environment. 

 

Policy CC7 States that the scale and pace of development will depend on 
sufficient capacity being available in existing infrastructure to 
meet the needs of the development.  Where this cannot be 
demonstrated the scale and the pace of the development will 
be dependent on additional capacity being released or the 
provision of new infrastructure. 

 

Policy T4  Refers to parking standards and the provision of adequate 
secure cycle parking. 

 

Policy NRM2 Water quality will be maintained and enhanced through 
avoiding adverse effects of development on the water 
environment.  

 

Page 35



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.20 

Policy NRM5 Requires Local Planning Authorities and other bodies to avoid 
a net loss of biodiversity, and actively pursue opportunities to 
achieve a net gain across the region.  

 

Policy NRM10 Measures to address and reduce noise will be developed at 
regional and local levels. 

 

Policy BE1 Local Authorities and their partners will use opportunities 
associated with new development to help provide significant 
improvements to the built environment.  

 

Policy C5 Seeks to ensure better management of the rural-urban fringe. 
 

Policy S1 Supports measures for developing and shaping healthy 
sustainable communities, including community access to 
amenities such as parks and physical recreation activities.  

 

Policy S3 States that, local planning authorities, taking into account 
demographic projections, should work with partners to ensure 
the adequate provision of pre–school, school and community 
learning facilities. 

 

Policy S5 Refers to cultural and sporting activities, and encourages local 
authorities and their partners to improve the overall standard of 
fitness, enhance cultural diversity and enrich the overall quality 
of life.  

 

Policy S6 Encourages the mixed use of community facilities, and requires 
community facilities to be located and designed appropriately.  

 

Policy W2 Encourages sustainable design, construction and demolition. 
 

 Important note regarding the South East Plan: 
Members will already be aware of the relevant South East Plan policy 
considerations in relation to the proposed development, in that The Plan was 
revoked and later reinstated pending the enactment of the Localism Bill. 
Members will also be aware that they have to have regard to the policies in 
the SEP and the Government’s intention to abolish the Regional Spatial 
Strategies (RSS) as material considerations. However the weight to be 
accorded is a matter for the decision makers.  Members should also note that 
the Localism Bill has now been enacted; however the SEP remains in effect 
until such time as the Government complete the formal process of revoking 
the Plan.  

 

(ii)  Sevenoaks District Local Plan: Adopted 2000: 

 

Policy EN1 -  Proposals for all forms of development and land use must 
comply with the policies set out in this Plan, unless there are 
overriding material considerations. Scale, height, design, 
layout, retention of important features (such as trees), 
residential and local amenity, access and parking are just 
some of the criteria which should be considered in the 
determination of a planning application. 

Page 36



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.21 

 

Policy EN4A - Proposals for all forms of non-residential development must 
make satisfactory provision for the safe and easy access of 
those with disabilities.  

 

Policy NR10 – Proposals for all forms of development should minimise 
pollution of the environment through the careful design and 
layout of any buildings or land uses.  

 

Policy VP1 – Vehicle parking provision in new developments will be made in 
accordance with KCC adopted vehicles parking standards.  

    

(iii) Sevenoaks District Core Strategy: Adopted February 2011: 

    

Policy LO8 – Seeks to maintain the extent of Green Belt, and conserve and 
enhance the countryside, including the distinctive features that 
contribute to the special character of its landscape and its 
biodiversity.  

 

Policy SP1 – Requires all new development to be designed to a high 
standard, reflect the distinctive local character of an area, 
create safe, inclusive and attractive environments, incorporate 
sustainable development principles and maintain biodiversity.  

 

Policy SP2 -  Sets standards for sustainable design and construction. 
Institutional development will be required to achieve a 
BREEAM rating of at least ‘very good’. In order to achieve this 
the proposal will be expected to demonstrate 10% energy 
savings through renewable sources.  

 

Policy SP10 – Promotes the provision of multifunctional green space by 
linking existing green space areas. The Policy also seeks the 
retention of open space, sports and recreational facilities, 
including indoor facilities of value to the local community, 
unless any loss can be justified by additional provision of at 
least equivalent value to the local community.  

 

Policy SP11 -  Seeks to conserve biodiversity, to ensure no net loss through 
development and to promote opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity.  

            

ConsultationsConsultationsConsultationsConsultations    

 

32. Sevenoaks District Council commented on the application as originally submitted as 
follows: 

 
“Whilst the District Council supports the development of the Knole Academy, it 
objects to this application on the following grounds: 
  
1. The proposed new building to the north of the existing school buildings, as a 
result of its arrangement and massing with large unrelieved sections of 
elevations coupled with its resulting height and large amount of roof plant on the 

Page 37



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.22 

main section of building, would result in a visually unattractive form of 
development failing to add to the overall quality of the surrounding area. The 
development would therefore be contrary to Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Local 
Plan, Policies SP1 and LO8 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy and guidance 
contained within section 7 of the NPPF (in particular para. 58).  
  
2. The proposal would result in a significant increase in car parking on the site 
resulting in harm to the character and appearance of the site and surrounding 
area and having a negative impact upon Green Belt openness as well as 
promoting and increased dependence upon motorised transport. The increase in 
parking proposed is not sufficiently justified by the accompanying 'DHA Transport 
Assessment' which indicates that 'the forecast maximum school parking 
accommodation is expected to be in the order of 150 vehicles' (para 8.5.5). For 
these reasons the development is contrary to Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Local 
Plan, Policies SP1 and LO8 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy and guidance 
contained within section 4 of the NPPF (in particular para. 58). 
  
The District Council also raises concern over the following issues: 
  
1. The site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt and constitutes 
inappropriate development that should not normally be allowed other than in very 
special circumstances. Whilst the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment 
demonstrates that the visual impacts of the development would be relatively 
constrained by surrounding topography, it is the Council's view that the proposal 
for a substantial and bulky building would have a significant impact upon Green 
Belt 'openness' generally. The additional ancillary works proposed (in particular 
the provision of large additional car parking areas) would have some additional 
negative impact upon Green Belt openness. 
  
The 'DHA Planning Statement' April 2012 sets out the applicant's case for very 
special circumstances (paras. 4.2.16 to 4.2.49).  
  
The District Council acknowledges the Government's objective to ensure 'that a 
sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and 
new communities' and that LPAs should 'give great weight to the need to create 
expand and alter schools' (NPPF para. 72). This objective should be given some 
weight as a material consideration however, in terms of the Green Belt 
consideration, the County Planning Authority should, in consultation with the 
Local Education Authority, be satisfied that the very special circumstances set 
out by the applicant based on an educational need and relating to the 
amalgamation of the school on one site outweigh the harm to openness identified 
above.  
  
Firstly, it is suggested by the applicant that the continued operation of the 
academy from two separate sites is impracticable. The District Council notes that 
there appears to be no undertaking to remove buildings on the former 
Wildernesse School site (also within the Green Belt) as a direct 'trade-off' with 
the building proposed and as such there would be a significant net increase in 
built form. In the absence of such a 'trade-off', the County Planning Authority 
should be satisfied that the current arrangement is impracticable and 
unsustainable in the long-term and that the benefit of amalgamating the school 
on one single site in terms of the quality of the educational provision constitutes 
overriding very special circumstances. 
  

Page 38



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.23 

Secondly, the resultant scale of the building appears to be partly as a result of a 
proposed increase in the pupil roll number at the school. The County Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Local Education Authority, should be satisfied 
that there is sufficient strategic need for additional places at the school over and 
above those resulting from the amalgamation of Bradbourne School and 
Wildernesse Schools.  
  
The County Planning Authority should then be additionally satisfied that there are 
no alternative more suitable sites for the development (either the building or 
school as a whole) and that the building itself has been designed and sited to 
minimise its impact upon Green Belt openness as far as is reasonably 
practicable.  
  
Whilst the highways and access improvements arising from the amalgamation 
are capable of being a very special circumstance in this case, for the reasons set 
out above the District Council raises concern that insufficient justification has 
been provided to justify the extent of additional car parking areas on the site. The 
proposed car parks have some negative impact upon the Green Belt in their own 
right.    
  
2. The County Planning Authority, in consultation with Sport England, should be 
satisfied that sport and recreation facilities, including playing fields, pitches and 
amenity areas of value to the community are appropriately retained in 
accordance with SP10 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy. It should be satisfied 
that the resultant facilities are sufficient to accommodate the increase in the pupil 
roll number at the school so as to avoid additional pressure on local facilities. “ 
  

Following the submission of revised design details (see paragraph 6), Sevenoaks 
District Council comment as follows:  
 

“The District Council considers that whilst the amendments constitute an 
improvement in terms of the resultant appearance of the building, in comparison 
to the originally submitted scheme, the amendments do not fully overcome the 
objections previously raised particularly in terms of the buildings massing, large 
sections of unrelieved elevation and prevalence of roof plant.  
 
The District Council continues to raise objection to the proposal and all 
comments raised in the District Council’s previous response remain relevant.” 

 

Sevenoaks Town Council recommends approval of the application. 

 

Kent County Council Highways and Transportation comment as follows: 
 

“Using the numbers of students and staff given in page 2 of the Travel Plan it is 
unclear how the maximum provision of 203 spaces given in paragraph 4.6.3 of 
the Transport Assessment is arrived at. However of key importance in the car 
parking standards for schools is note 3 which states that appropriate provision 
should be made for the setting down and picking up of children in a safe 
environment in a manner that does not unduly interfere with the operation of the 
public highway and paragraph 3.4.1 of the Transport Assessment is considered 
to be most apt and fitting in this regard. The allocation for visitors and those 
dropping off children near to the site entrance is welcomed and considered to 
be of road safety and local residential benefit. 

Page 39



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.24 

 
The actual total allocation of 195 spaces is not considered to be excessive 
when considering the various analyses that the applicant’s transport consultant 
has made and the School’s aspirations for the future. Whilst the School Travel 
Plan in contradiction rightly aims to reduce the need for this car parking, I would 
agree with the comments made in 8.5.6 in that depending on the success of the 
plan, adjustments or re-allocation of the car parking can be made, notably with 
respect to car sharing spaces. Appropriate provision has been made for 
cycling, motorcycling, mobility impaired, mini bus and mini-coach parking.” 

 

Environment Agency raises no objection to the application subject to the imposition of 
conditions regarding surface water disposal, surface water drainage, a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site, and control of 
piling and any other penetrative foundation designs in those parts of the site that could 
pose a risk to groundwater. Further advice and guidance is provided regarding drainage 
and storage of fuels and chemicals. The Environment Agency states that the proposed 
development would only be acceptable if the planning conditions as worded in their 
response are included on any permission granted. 

 

Sport England is currently assessing additional information submitted in support of this 
application. Comments are awaited, and Members will be updated of Sport England’s 
views at the Planning Applications Committee Meeting.  

 

The County Council’s Biodiversity Officer is satisfied that the submitted surveys 
have adequately assessed the impact of the development on protected species, 
including Reptiles and Bats. The implementation of the mitigation measures detailed 
within the reports must be secured by conditions of consent. Ecological enhancements 
should also be incorporated into the development, and further consideration should be 
given to managing and enhancing the buffer area between the proposed development 
site and the adjacent SSSI. 
 

Kent Wildlife Trust raises no objection to the application, following the applicants 
submission of further details with regard to the enhancement of the buffer zone 
between the development site and the adjacent SSSI, and the submission of a 5 year 
Environmental Management Plan.  

 

Natural England confirms that the application site is in close proximity to Sevenoaks 
Gravel Pits SSSI. However, given the nature and scale of this proposal, Natural 
England raises no objection to the proposal being carried out according to the terms 
and conditions of the application and submitted plans on account of the impact of 
designated sites. Natural England also considers that appropriate mitigation has been 
proposed with regard to protected species.  

 

The County Archaeologist raises no objection subject to a condition being placed on 
any grant of planning permission requiring the securing of the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work, to be undertaken in accordance with a written 
specification and timetable. 

 

The County Council’s Landscape Advisor comments as follows:  
 

“I accept the justification for the extent of development, and that the design 
aims to reduce the impact on the openness of the Green Belt and to retain as 
much existing vegetation as possible. I also appreciate that proposed planting 

Page 40



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.25 

is extensive and would potentially exceed vegetation removal (pending details, 
see below). However although the proposals would be set within the context of 
the existing school development, there would be a degree of encroachment 
within the Green Belt and some localised impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt and this should be balanced against the need for the development.  
  
I note the following amendments to the Landscape Hard and Soft General 
Arrangement Plan (Drawing Number D1941L.100 Revision H) in response to 
my previous comments:  

• The applicant has increased the extent of proposed planting, including 
additional native shrub planting, native hedgerow and meadow mix. Although 
the details of this planting appear to be indicative, I consider that detailed 
landscape proposals would be acceptable as a condition to any planning 
permission granted. 

• I am pleased to note that the proposed car park has been moved by 2.5m as 
recommended by the arborist to avoid root damage to existing trees.”  

 

Local MemberLocal MemberLocal MemberLocal Member    

 
33. The local County Member, Mr Nick Chard, and the adjoining local County Member Mr 

John London, have been notified of the application and the amended design details.  No 
views have been received. 
 

PublicityPublicityPublicityPublicity 

 
34. The application was publicised by the posting of 4 site notices, advertisement in a local 

newspaper, and the individual notification of 54 neighbouring properties.  
 

RepresentatioRepresentatioRepresentatioRepresentationsnsnsns 

 
35. To date, I have received 3 individual letters of representation from 2 local 

properties/residents. 
 

A summary of the main issues raised/points made to date are set out below:  
 

• Concerned about the existing dance studio being used as a nursery; 

• The existing dance studio is only a few feet from the end of a resident’s garden, and 
noise from the studio is a nuisance; 

• The use of the dance studio as a nursery would create even more noise and 
nuisance, over longer hours. No objection is raised to a 0730 start, but strong objection 
is raised to a finish past 1600; 

•   The nursery/dance studio building should be moved to another area of the school 
site, away from residents; 

• The fencing along the western boundary of the site should be replaced as it is in a 
poor state of repair; 

• Parents are currently using the private road leading to local properties and the 
Wildfowl Reserve as a car park/waiting area at drop-off/pick-up times. 
 
I have also received a letter of representation from Matthew C.F. Dickins, the District 
Councillor for Sevenoaks Northern. Mr Dickins states that he writes further to the 
submission of Sevenoaks District Councils (SDC’s) objections, and comments as 
follows:  

Page 41



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.26 

 
“From a practical perspective I must disagree with SDC’s second point of objection 
regarding parking provision. At school pick up time, Oakdene Road and Lambarde 
Road are lined with the parked cars of people collecting their children. The noise 
greatly disturbs the residents of these otherwise quiet roads and quantity of vehicles 
presents a highway safety hazard. As such, I wholly support the proposed increase 
in on site parking provision at Knole Academy. 
 
To clarify, these are my own views as the local District Member, as such they should 
not be considered to be part of SDC’s response.” 
 

DiscussionDiscussionDiscussionDiscussion    

    

36. In considering this proposal regard must be had to the Development Plan Policies 
outlined in paragraphs 30 & 31 above. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act states that applications must be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Therefore, this proposal needs to be considered in the context of Development Plan 
Policies, Government Guidance, including the new National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), and other material planning considerations arising from consultation and 
publicity. Issues of particular relevance include impact upon the Metropolitan Green Belt 
and wider landscape, siting, massing & design, highway implications and access, 
landscaping, and whether the development is sustainable in light of the NPPF.  

 
37. Policy BE1 of the South East Plan, Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan, 

and Core Strategy Policy SP1, seek to conserve and enhance the environment and 
require development to be well designed and respect its setting. This is particularly 
relevant to this site which is identified within the Sevenoaks District Local Plan as being 
within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Policy LO8 of the Sevenoaks District Core Strategy 
seeks to resist inappropriate development within the Green Belt, unless justified by 
exceptional circumstances. Reference is made to PPG2 which has been replaced by 
the NPPF. The NPPF says “as with previous Green Belt Policy, inappropriate 
development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances”. The NPPF does not explain in any detail what 
‘very special circumstances’ means, but does go on to say “very special circumstances 
will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations”. Any 
built development within the Metropolitan Green Belt could affect the openness of it and 
would be contrary to planning policies. On this basis the development proposed must be 
considered as a departure from the Development Plan. Therefore, if Members were 
minded to grant planning permission, the application would need to be referred to the 
Secretary of State for his consideration.  

 
Green Belt considerations 
 
38. By virtue of the criteria in the NPPF, and various Local Plan Policies, the development is 

inappropriate in Green Belt terms. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and it is for the applicant to demonstrate why permission should be 
granted. Such development should not be approved, except in very special 
circumstances. It is, therefore, necessary to consider the impact of the development on 
the openness of the Green Belt and whether or not there are very special 
circumstances that would warrant setting aside the general presumption against 
inappropriate development.  

Page 42



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.27 

 
39. A ‘planning statement’ was submitted in support of this application, which sets out what 

the applicant considers to be the very special circumstances that warrant setting aside 
the general presumption against what would be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. As part of the very special circumstances justification, the applicant has 
considered three further alternative development options for the Knole Academy: 

Option 1: Do nothing and retain a split campus; 
Option 2: Find another non Green Belt site for the Academy to relocate to; 
Option 3: Deliver the new Academy using or directly replacing the existing built 
footprint on the current application site.  

 The following paragraphs outlines why these 3 options were not considered to be 
appropriate or acceptable, leading to a discussion of the development as proposed.  

 
40. However, in general it is important to note that the redevelopment of the Academy 

would significantly improve the educational and sporting facilities at the Academy, which 
would benefit existing pupils, staff and the wider community. Prior to becoming an 
Academy, Bradbourne and Wildernesse Schools were the only secondary schools 
serving Sevenoaks Town and the surrounding villages. However, only 35% of students 
resident in the Sevenoaks Town area attend the schools, with Sevenoaks District being 
one of the largest exporters of students within Kent. One of the main aims of creating 
the Academy was to attempt to reverse this trend and retain a higher percentage of 
Sevenoaks based attendance and student population through providing a high 
performing, co-educational local secondary school which would present a credible and 
preferable alternative to schools outside of the town. The provision of new development 
for schools is specifically supported in National Planning Policy, and the Government 
has pledged further support for school development in their DCLG Policy Statement 
Planning for School Development (2011). Against this background of strong policy 
support, I consider that the principle of redeveloping the Academy to provide a new 
school building and better sports facilities is acceptable. However, notwithstanding the 
established use of the application site, the proposed redevelopment of the Academy 
represents development which by definition is inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt. Before assessing the case of very special circumstances justifying the 
development upon the application site, the three options above, including alternative 
sites must first be considered.  

 
41. First, with regard to option 1 above, the applicant advises that if the Academy were to 

remain as it is, operating from the existing buildings and campuses of two separate 
sites, a mile apart, it would be impossible to bring about the transformational change in 
the standard of education and facilities which is necessary to ensure the continued 
improvement in education attainment of the Wildernesse School Pupils (prior to 
becoming part of Knole Academy, the Wildernesse School was recovering from a low 
point of educational attainment). Retaining the split campuses would, the applicant 
advises, present significant difficulties both perceptually as well as logistically. The 
consolidation to one site and the re-organisation of the former Bradbourne School is 
central to successfully delivering the Academy’s educational model, and the elements of 
the new building work are considered to be critical to transforming the ethos and overall 
image of the Academy. Retaining two sites would disperse the impact of the new 
building work, and would present an unsustainable arrangement in terms of access, 
management and effective overall teaching, with students and teachers continuing to 
the shuttled from one site to the other. The applicant considers that the cohesive power 
of operating as a whole from one site would not be achieved in this scenario.  

 
42. Furthermore, the Expression of Interest for the Academy was based on the two sites 

being consolidated to one and, therefore, the overall support and funding for this 

Page 43



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.28 

Academy has been secured on this basis. The applicant advises that the ‘do nothing’ 
option is unacceptable and would not bring about the improvement in educational 
provision that is required by Central Government and their agencies. In light of this, and 
having accepted that the only option for the provision of improved Academy facilities is 
to develop on one site, it is important to consider option 2 - whether an alternative non 
Green Belt site is available to develop.  

 
43. It is recognised that the preferable policy position would be to locate the Academy 

development outside of the Green Belt. As the whole of the Academy site (the former 
Bradbourne School), and that of the second Wildernesse Site, are within the Green 
Belt, the only option to achieve development outside of the Green Belt would be to 
relocate the Academy to an alternative site elsewhere in the District. The applicant 
advises that relocating to an alternative site would present significant logistical and 
financial cost, not least from potential site acquisition which would add heavily to the 
Academy’s development costs. Due to cuts in the original funding budget, the proposed 
development has already been scaled back from a complete new build, to retaining 
buildings where possible to ensure that the most important elements of the Academy 
can be delivered as new build. The level of funding available through the Academies 
programme would, therefore, fall far short of that required to acquire and develop 
another alternative site, whether it be outside the Green Belt or not. In addition, the 
existing Academy serves a local community need, and relocation to an alternative site 
(assuming that one could be found) would result in the loss of a local community hub, 
and would not present a sustainable solution. New development on an alternative site in 
another part of Sevenoaks would not meet the needs of the existing community and the 
residential development south of Bradbourne Vale Road. Given that the whole of the 
District is within the Green Belt, the development also needs to be seen in context; 
concentration on one site might mean more built development on a Green Belt site, but 
it avoids development on other sites in the Green Belt, such as the Wildernesse site, 
and in other towns such as Edenbridge, which are now within the Academy’s catchment 
area.    

 
44. In addition to the cost implications of acquiring an alternative site, such a step would 

also significantly delay the development programme and extend the time period for 
delivering the new Academy campus. The applicant advises that there is a pressing 
need to raise educational standards at the school, and the new Academy campus would 
play a critical role in achieving this. The programme for creating the Academy and 
securing the new campus is running to a tight time scale, with completion of the works 
due in September 2013. If a new site were to be acquired prior to the development 
commencing, this would add considerably to the development programme, which would, 
the applicant advises, have a negative impact on the ‘ability to implement the 
educational model in its entirety and thereby raise standards’. In light of the information 
provided in support of the need to redevelop one of the existing sites, and in 
considering that both of the existing sites are established educational campuses, I see 
no other viable alternative than the redevelopment of one of the school sites. Having 
accepted that the Academy could not be moved to an alternative site, I consider that the 
applicants are left with only one option - to provide new and improved Academy 
buildings on one of the existing School sites within the Green Belt.  

 
45. The applicant advises that the choice of site to consolidate development of the 

Academy on has been carefully considered with extensive analysis of the locational, 
environmental, strategic and financial constraints and values of each site. Following this 
analysis, the applicant advises that the decision was taken to relocate to the 
Bradbourne School (Knole West) site rather than the Wildernesse School (Knole East) 
site for the following reasons: 

Page 44



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.29 

• Thorough conditions surveys of the buildings and grounds of each site were 
undertaken, which concluded that many of the buildings on the Knole East site were 
in a poor condition and past their useful lifespan, whereas at Knole West there are a 
greater number of more recently completed buildings that are considered to be in 
good condition; 

• During the process of developing the strategy for the new Academy development, 
the Department of Education significantly reduced the funding available. The former 
wholesale development strategy had to be rethought, and funds focused on the 
areas which would bring about the most community benefit. The result of this was 
that some of the existing building on whichever site was chosen would need to be 
retained alongside a smaller proportion of new build; 

• Fully costed options for part redevelopment/part refurbishment of existing buildings 
at both sites were drawn up, which clearly showed that given the poor conditions of 
the buildings at Knole East and the funding available, Knole West presented a more 
suitable base as the condition of existing buildings required less refurbishment and 
would therefore allow for a more extensive proportion of new build. This was 
considered by the applicant to be the preferable option in terms of maximising the 
benefit to the community in terms of the achieving the most from the funding 
available;  

• A further key consideration was the transport implications of the Knole East site. The 
Knole East site (Wildernesse) currently experiences very heavy traffic build up at the 
junction on the A25 at peak times. Consolidating the Academy onto that site, with the 
attendant uplift in pupils would increase traffic in this location, exacerbating existing 
congestion problems. Any proposal to relocate solely to this site would, therefore, 
undoubtedly require additional measures to be introduced to mitigate any impact on 
the local highway network, which would not be affordable given the reduced funding 
available for the Academy development.  

 
46. Notwithstanding the above, the Wildernesse Knole East site is also within the Green 

Belt, and within an area of suburban low density housing. Having accepted that the 
redevelopment of one of the existing Academy sites is the only option available, and in 
consideration of the information provided by the applicant, as set out above, I consider 
that the currently proposed redevelopment of the Bradbourne Knole West site is a far 
more suitable option than the redevelopment of the Knole East site. The District Council 
note that there appears to be no undertaking to remove buildings on the former 
Wildernesse School Site as a ‘direct trade-off’ with the building proposed, and that in 
the absence of such a trade off, the County Planning Authority should be satisfied that 
the current split site arrangement is impracticable and unsustainable in the long term, 
and that the benefit of the amalgamation in terms of the quality of educational provision 
constitutes overriding very special circumstances. I consider that the applicant has 
provided sufficient justification and a case of need for the redevelopment of the 
Bradbourne School site, and that continued use of the two sites would not prove 
sustainable or practicable in the future, nor would it provide a level of accommodation 
required to house modern teaching practices to meet community needs. Having 
accepted that the Academy should be located on one site, and that that site should be 
the existing campus of the Bradbourne School, it is now essential to consider the 
implications of development on that site and assess the merits of the development 
scheme as proposed.  

 
47. As detailed in paragraph 39, and discussed in previous paragraphs, one remaining 

alternative option to the development as proposed is option 3 – to deliver the new 
Academy using or directly replacing the existing built footprint on the current application 
site. It is important to note that the whole of the Knole West school site is within the 

Page 45



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.30 

Green Belt, including the area of built development. Any development on the site would, 
therefore, be development within the Green Belt. However, building upon the existing 
footprint could potentially be a more acceptable alternative to encroaching upon 
undeveloped areas of the school site and this option needs to be considered. As 
outlined above, during the process of developing the strategy for the new Academy 
development, the Department of Education reviewed the funding allocated for the Knole 
Academy development, and reduced it significantly. As a consequence, the Academy 
has had to reconsider its development strategy for a total rebuild, to focusing funds on 
the areas which would bring about the most change and be of most community benefit. 
Existing school buildings therefore need to be retained, being refurbished where 
required. However, the provision of an element of new build is essential in achieving the 
standard of educational facilities required, and in providing an independent campus 
specifically for the Knole Academy. The applicant advises that the potential to provide 
the new elements required wholly within the existing developed part of the site has been 
fully explored but is severely hampered by the size of the site, the need to retain the 
existing school buildings, and the need to provide accommodation for students and 
teachers during construction. In addition, improved sports and car parking facilities are 
required, which could not be accommodated within the confines of existing 
development.  

 
48. The potential to provide the required new elements of the Academy campus wholly 

within the existing developed part of the site has been explored by the applicant. I 
accept the applicants arguments concerning the provision of a new building, and 
associated car parking and sport facilities, and agree with the applicant in that they 
could not be accommodated within the existing built footprint due to the confined size of 
the site, the requirement to retain existing buildings, and the need to provide 
accommodation for students and teaching during the construction period. I also 
recognise that the phasing of a new campus on the existing developed part of the site 
would result in a cramped spatial layout and would be extremely difficult to implement 
without impacting negatively upon teaching and day to day management. 

 
49. Having accepted that new build elements would be required, and that the 

redevelopment of the Academy campus could not be contained within the footprint of 
existing built development, the impact of the development as proposed on the Green 
Belt needs to be considered as discussed. Prior to submitting this application the 
applicant undertook a feasibility study, reviewing various options for the redevelopment 
of the site. The development as now proposed was considered by the applicant to 
provide the best solution for the school, whilst minimising the impact on playing field 
provision and the openness of the Green Belt. The applicant advises that the Academy 
development has been designed to ensure that any harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt is minimised. The new Academy building which would house teaching, sports and 
performance accommodation, has been designed to occupy a compact minimum 
footprint (2761m

2
) and to maintain the existing three storey height that prevails to the 

rear of the site. The building as proposed presents the minimum height and footprint 
needed to provide the schedule of accommodation, whilst delivering the 
transformational teaching and learning environment needed for a modern community 
facilty. 

 
50. The approach taken to the site layout and design maximises the use of the existing 

developed footprint as far as possible. The proposed new building would be located 
primarily on the footprint of the existing rear car parking area/hardstanding, and an area 
currently home to a plethora of temporary storage buildings and a nursery. The NPPF 
supports development of previously developed land within the Green Belt in some 
circumstances, and by building upon existing areas of hardstanding, and upon the 

Page 46



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.31 

footprint of temporary buildings to be removed, the impact of the development on the 
openness of the Green Belt is minimised. The built form of the main Academy building 
would, however, extend beyond the current development footprint, into the area of 
scrub/woodland to the north of the existing campus development. The applicant advises 
that the built development outside of the current developed footprint is essential in 
delivering a functional and efficient building layout, and that the building design has 
focused on minimising outward built form, scale and mass to mitigate the impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt. It should also be noted that the area of scrub/woodland 
that would be affected by the proposed development has recently been cleared as part 
of the Japanese Knotweed eradication programme, as outlined in paragraphs 21 & 25 
of this report.  

 
51. The proposed new car parking areas would be located to the east of the site, on land 

that is partially developed as a service compound (to the north) and to the south which 
accommodates the two storey temporary modular building which currently houses the 
additional pupils on site. The car parking areas, along with the proposed all weather 
pitch, would also take in an element of undeveloped land. The car parking areas would 
be located as close to the existing and proposed built development on site as possible, 
and would, I consider, offer a logical extension of the built zone of development on the 
eastern side. Views of the two car parking areas would be limited to the north by the 
distance from a public view point and to the south by the relief of the land, sitting much 
lower than the road. The extensive existing planting and screening along Bradbourne 
Vale Road would also aid in mitigating views of the development.  

 
52. To assess the visual effect of the development, and to demonstrate the resultant 

degree of harm, the application was accompanied by a Landscape Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA). The LVIA confirms that, although the proposed Academy building, 
car parking and all weather pitch would extend slightly further into the Green Belt than 
existing development on site, their proximity to the existing facilities on site means that 
the proposed development would still appear joined to, and integrated with, the existing 
building fabric, largely maintaining the open character of the surrounding landscape. 
Furthermore, the visual separation provided by the local topography and existing 
perimeter and internal vegetation means that localised changes proposed to the layout 
of the site accommodation would have no discernible effect on the character of the 
surrounding landscape at a local scale. The LVIA concludes that the presence of the 
new building, car parks and all weather pitch would inevitably have some impact, but 
that the development would be contained to their immediate context of Academy 
development, and would have only a limited effect on the openness of the Green Belt. 
The County Council’s Landscape Advisor has considered the LVIA and advises that 
there would be some localised impact upon the Green Belt. This limited impact upon the 
openness of the Green Belt needs to be balanced against the wider need for the 
development.  

 

53. The applicants, in my view, have demonstrated a case of need for new educational and 

sports facilities to meet local community needs. A split campus, using existing buildings, 
is not suitable to accommodate modern teaching methods and is, therefore, no longer 
fit for purpose or sustainable. In my view, it would be difficult to dispute the case made, 
not only on the basis of the need to be on one site but also the adequacy of the existing 
accommodation to meet changing education requirements and practice. I would 
therefore accept the education need for the new accommodation. The applicant 
concludes that overall, it is considered that the need for additional facilities at the 
Academy, together with the provision of improved facilities for community use, 
demonstrate very special circumstances for overriding Green Belt policy constraints in 

Page 47



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.32 

this instance. Having accepted the need for the redevelopment of the Academy 
buildings, and accepting the need to redevelop on the existing Knole West site it has 
been necessary to consider whether the redevelopment could be contained within the 
existing footprint of built development on site. I accept the applicant’s argument that 
satisfactory built development could not be contained within the existing extent of built 
development, and consider that the proposed development option is the most suitable 
out of those considered at the feasibility stage. Whilst there is inevitably some impact 
on the Green Belt, the LVIA demonstrates that the presence of the new buildings, car 
parks and all weather pitch would be contained within the immediate context of 
Academy development, and the effect on the openness of the Green Belt would be 
limited. The proposed layout represents the option which strikes the best balance 
between minimising intrusion into the Green Belt and providing sufficient 
accommodation and facilities to enable the Academy to deliver its educational model 
and operate successfully. 

 
54. Overall, I accept the applicant’s assessment and application of Green Belt Policy as set 

out in the submitted documentation, and I have considered this in the context of the 
amended policy following publication of the NPPF. The development is inappropriate 
development for the purposes of Green Belt consideration and is, therefore, by 
definition harmful. Nevertheless, in my view, the considerations summarised above are 
sufficient collectively to constitute very special circumstances capable of outweighing 
harm, in this particular case.  Furthermore, I accept that the particular siting and design 
of the proposals has been carefully considered to help mitigate the impact of the 
development on the functioning and openness of the Green Belt. Accordingly, I do not 
consider that an objection on Green Belt grounds would be warranted in this particular 
case.  However, if Members were minded to grant permission, the application would 
need to be referred to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
for his consideration before permission could be granted.   

 
Siting and Design 
 
55. Having accepted the siting of the proposed facilities in Green Belt terms, the siting must 

also be considered in terms of residential and local amenity. The siting and design of 
the development has not met with objection from local residents as the proposed 
Academy building, and associated facilities, would not directly impact upon the amenity 
of local properties due to physical and visual separation. The only objection received 
with regard to the site layout concerns the proposal to relocate the nursery into an 
existing modular building on site, which currently houses the dance studio. This single 
storey building is located to the south west of the school site, to the rear of a local 
property, 4 Oast Cottages. The application for the dance studio building (SE/06/2478) 
was considered by Members at Planning Applications Committee in February 2007, 
where Members resolved to grant permission. The Committee Report presented to 
Members stated the following:  

 
“The mobile classroom at its closest point to the boundary of 4 Oast Cottages 
would be between 10 and 14 metres. It is worth noting that at the closest point 
the boundary is already well screened by semi-mature trees and a 2.5m fence.  
The nearest façade of 4 Oast Cottages would be some 40 metres from the site of 
the mobile classroom.  Physical constraints prevent the mobile classroom being 
moved immediately further to the north.”  

 
56. The residents of 4 Oast Cottages are concerned over the proposed relocation of the 

nursery into the dance studio building, and consider that the nursery would create 
additional noise and nuisance, over longer hours. No objection is raised to a 0730 start 

Page 48



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.33 

time, but strong objection is raised to a finish past 1600. It is also suggested that the 
building should be moved to another area of the site, or the nursery be located within 
the main school buildings.  

 
57. The existing nursery building is located to the rear of the site, and would be displaced 

by the proposed new Academy building. The current nursery operates on a daily basis 
from 9am until 3pm, with approximately 15 children per session (2 sessions per day) 
aged from 2 to 5 years. It is proposed to replicate the existing nursery activities within 
the dance studio building, but to extend the hours of opening to address the needs of 
working parents and staff at the Academy. The application seeks permission to operate 
from 0730 to 1800, Monday to Friday, 52 weeks of the year. The applicant advises that 
the existing dance studio is available for use throughout the day between the hours of 
0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday, and between 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays. The 
applicant advises that careful and in-depth discussion took place regarding the location 
of replacement nursery accommodation, and the logistical solution was to use the 
existing dance studio. I am advised that this was due to safeguarding issues for small 
children, the fact that there is no spare capacity within the existing buildings and 
financial constraints within the build budget.   

 
58. Concern is expressed that use of the building as a nursery would generate more noise 

than the existing use as a dance studio. I consider that internal use of the building as a 
nursery would not generate any more noise than the existing use, which involves 
amplified music and the noise associated with groups of students dancing. Although 
children at play can be noisy, strict supervision would control this, and I do not consider 
that the level of noise would be any worse than the existing. The nursery does however 
have external play, which could generate additional noise over and above that currently 
experienced. However, the applicants have confirmed that the external play area would 
be positioned to the north of the building, so that the building would lie between the play 
area and the resident’s property, acting as a sound barrier. The applicants have also 
proposed to plant a row of trees against the boundary fence to further diffuse sound. As 
outlined above, the existing boundary is already well screened, with a 2.5m fence and 
existing semi-mature trees. This, coupled with the additional planting proposed, and the 
fact that the building is over 10m from the site boundary, and some 40 metres from the 
nearest façade of 4 Oast Cottages, leads me to conclude that the proposed use of the 
building as a nursery would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the amenity of 
the neighbouring property. I consider that that hours of use proposed are acceptable, 
bearing in mind existing hours of use of the building and the school site as a whole, and 
see no reason to impose a 1600 finish time given that the general Academy uses will be 
continuing to operate during that period. The additional tree planting to the boundary 
should be provided, however, and this would be covered by a condition of consent 
should permission be granted.  

 
59. Sevenoaks District Council has, however, raised objection to the application on the 

grounds that ‘the proposed new building, as a result of its arrangement and massing 
with large unrelieved sections of elevations, coupled with its resulting height and large 
amount of roof plant on the main section of the building, would result in a visually 
unattractive form of development, failing to add to the overall quality of the surrounding 
area’. As a result of this objection, the applicant has amended the design and 
elevational treatment from that as originally proposed to the scheme detailed and 
shown in this report. The applicant has made minor amendments to the design 
including the removal of Brise Soleil, reorganisation of roof plant, changing the window 
design from a domestic window to something more suitable in a school, and changing 
the layout of materials to add verticality to the building.  

 

Page 49



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.34 

60. First, with regard to height and massing, it is important to note that the proposed 
Academy building would be at the rear of the site, behind the existing school buildings, 
and at a lower level than the A25 fronting the site. The applicant has submitted 
photomontages from various viewpoints which demonstrate that only limited views of 
the building would be possible, all of which are set within the context of existing 
buildings on site and existing and proposed landscaping. Views from the nature reserve 
to the north of the site are the most prominent, but due to existing tree planting and 
topography these views are restricted, and long distance views would be against a back 
drop of the town of Sevenoaks. Notwithstanding this, the applicant has advised that 
since the application was submitted further technical design of the building structure has 
mitigated the need for sprinklers, which in turn has enabled a lowering of the storey 
heights. As a result of this, the height of the main teaching block has been reduced 
from 12.5m by 1.1m to 11.4m. The heights of the proposed performance hall and sports 
hall remain unchanged at 9.1m and 9.6m respectively. This lowering in height has 
further reduced the scale and massing of the building, and means that views of the 
proposed building are even less intrusive. As detailed in the Green Belt section of this 
report, the submitted LVIA also concludes that the proposed development would appear 
as a conjoined and integrated part of the existing building fabric, largely maintaining the 
open character of the surrounding landscape. The LVIA also states that the local 
topography and existing perimeter and internal vegetation means that the development 
proposals would have no discernible effect on the character of the surrounding 
landscape at a local scale.  

 
61. The applicant considers that the scale of the new building is appropriate to its nature of 

use and location. The proposed building would retain the prevailing three storey scale of 
development to the rear of the site and, as discussed above, would be largely obscured 
from public views. The building has been designed to accommodate as compact a 
footprint as possible so as to minimise further encroachment into the Green Belt. The 
resulting three storey development, which includes a sports hall and performance hall, 
both of which are large scale spaces, is in scale with the existing buildings on the 
school site. Taking into account the site layout, the level of screening, the limited views 
from public vantage points and the scale and massing of existing development on the 
site, I consider the scale and massing of the proposed building to be acceptable and in 
context with the remaining Academy campus. I see no reason to refuse the application 
on this ground. 

 
62. Sevenoaks District Council also raises concern over the ‘large amount of roof plant’ 

proposed.  A number of sun tubes and roof lights are proposed to supplement day light 
in some classroom spaces and upper level corridors. In addition, wind catchers and 
mono draught units are proposed to form part of the ventilation strategy for the building 
and solar thermal panels would be strategically placed across the roof. These elements 
of sustainable design are part of the development’s BREEAM credentials, as supported 
by Development Plan Policy, such as Sevenoaks District Core Strategy Policy SP2, 
which requires institutional development to achieve a BREEAM rating of at least ‘very 
good’, and advice in the NPPF on design and sustainability infrastructure. The applicant 
advises that this development is seeking to achieve a BREEAM rating of ‘very good’, 
but the sun tubes, roof lights, wind catchers and solar thermal panels are key to 
achieving this rating. Their removal would be contrary to the underlying principles of 
development plan policy and, although not ideal in visual terms, the ‘plant’ would only be 
partly visible from limited vantage points, and is fairly low key in nature when viewed in 
the wider built environments. I would not wish to raise objection to this element of the 
development as I consider that the benefits of the ‘plants’ inclusion outweighs the minor 
negative visual impact.  

 

Page 50



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.35 

63. The District Council’s objection also refers to ‘large unrelieved sections of elevations’ 
and states that the building would be a ‘visually unattractive form of development, failing 
to add to the overall quality of the surrounding area’. As a result of this point of 
objection, the applicant has revised certain elements of the design in an effort to 
address the concerns raised. First, the windows as originally proposed were very 
domestic in scale, with a main opening casement and a top fanlight. To my mind, these 
windows were not of an appropriate design for an educational establishment and gave 
the impression that the building was domestic in nature. They also clashed with the 
scale and massing of the building which, although is considered to be acceptable, is of 
a scale above and beyond a domestic building. The applicant has, therefore, amended 
the window design to ‘ribbon windows’ subdivided into three panes, arranged vertically, 
which either stand alone or pair up to form one large window subdivided into 6 panes. 
This design of window is more appropriate for the educational building proposed, and 
reflects the scale and massing of the building. I therefore consider the amended window 
design to be acceptable, and see no reason to seek to amend that further. 

 
64. Concern was also raised about the ‘large unrelieved sections of elevations’, and the 

applicant has addressed this by adding verticality to the elevations, removing the strong 
horizontal differentiation between materials that was originally proposed. The layout of 
the materials has altered, with sections of facing brickwork being extended vertically 
through the rendered upper floors, forming ‘columns’ on the main teaching classroom 
wing. These vertical brickwork elements also act as ‘bookends’, framing areas of 
rendered façade and adding visual weight to the overall appearance of the building. The 
brickwork finish is also proposed to extend up to full height of the larger hall volumes to 
create unified brick clad volumes that help break up and articulate the elevations. The 
building has also been designed with a staggered northern elevation, and an angled 
sports hall block, which aids in breaking down the overall bulk of the building, whilst 
reflecting the overall fragmented layout of the existing development on site. The 
entrance to the new Academy building would be demarcated with a triple height glazed 
entrance and over sailing portico and the angled wall of the sports hall would create an 
approach plaza to the entrance, creating a ‘sense of arrival’. The eastern end of the 
building, the sports hall elevation facing the new car park, would accommodate an 
external climbing wall which would add interest to the otherwise blank brickwork 
elevation. 

 
65. The applicant considers that the main objective for the design appearance of the new 

Academy building has been to provide a strong contemporary image that is not only in 
keeping with ‘its strength of purpose and educational orientation and specialisms’, but 
also in keeping with the sensitivities of the site and surroundings.  The façade materials 
include buff coloured brick, render and curtain walling. The choice of materials is in part 
to do with robustness, to ensure that the lower levels of the facades that are within 
hands reach can withstand the wear and tear of daily intensive use. The applicant 
advises that the use of masonry also ties in with the existing buildings and the paved 
materials that will form adjoining surfaces. Windows are either cut into the masonry or, 
for more significant elevation openings such as the main entrance foyer, are completed 
in full height curtain walling.  

 
66. Although the District Council continues to object to the application following the 

amendments made by the applicant, I am of the opinion that the design alterations have 
made a significant positive change to the overall appearance of the building. 
Notwithstanding this, it is also important to note that, as discussed above, wider views 
of the building from public vantage points are limited. The proposed building will really 
only be fully visible from within the site, in which case it would be viewed against the 
backdrop of existing buildings on site, within the context of an educational campus. 

Page 51



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.36 

Nevertheless, I do not consider that the proposed building would be a ‘visually 
unattractive form of development’. In my view the Academy building would respect the 
character of the site, and would not detract from the overall quality of the surrounding 
area. The development is therefore, in my view, in accordance with the principles of 
Development Plan Policy and respects the character and appearance of the 
surrounding development in terms of scale, massing, design and appearance. Subject 
to the imposition of conditions regarding the submission of final details of external 
materials and external lighting, I do not consider that the design, massing, or scale of 
the building would have a significantly detrimental impact upon the appearance or 
amenity of the locality and, therefore, would be acceptable.  

 
Retention of modular building 
 
67. As outlined in paragraph 12 of this report, this application also proposes the continued 

temporary retention of a two storey modular classroom block, which was granted 
permission by the County Council as an interim solution to accommodation needs on 
the site. The classroom block is located to the southern corner of the site, to the east of 
the access road, and was granted temporary permission which expired in June 2012. 
However, this application was submitted prior to the expiration of that permission. The 
application proposes to retain the classroom block until the new Academy building is 
complete and fully operational.  

 
68. It should be noted, however, that until the temporary classroom block is removed from 

the site, the proposed car parking area to the east of the access road at the southern 
end of the site cannot be implemented. The applicant has, therefore, suggested that a 
condition of consent, should permission be granted, be worded as follows:  

 
 ‘The two storey modular classroom block shall be removed in its entirety from the site 

and all works to create the car parking area upon which the classroom block currently 
stands shall be complete within 1 month of notification having been given to the County 
Planning Authority of completion of the new building hereby permitted and the decant of 
students to that building.’  

 
69. Logistically the new building needs to be complete and fully operational to enable 

removal of the existing temporary accommodation. The car parking cannot be 
completed until the modular building is removed and, therefore, the approach 
suggested by the applicant appears to offer a sensible and appropriate solution. The 
condition as worded above would ensure that the modular building was removed and 
the car parking completed and fully operational within 1 month of the completion of the 
new build and the decant of students into that building. I consider this to be an 
appropriate and acceptable way of dealing with the phasing of the development, and 
should permission be granted, the condition as worded above would be imposed upon 
the consent.  

 
Access and Car Parking 
 
70. As outlined in paragraphs 13-15 of this report, the existing vehicular and pedestrian 

access arrangements are not proposed to be altered in any way as a result of this 
application, with access via the Bradbourne Vale Road, either direct or via the dedicated 
underpass depending on direction of travel. This application proposes a total of 195 car 
parking spaces, provided in four separate car parks, two of which are existing, and two 
of which are proposed. The existing car park to the south east of the site, adjacent to 
the existing main entrance, would accommodate 2 disabled spaces, in addition to the 
bus drop off loop and mini bus parking. Another existing car park, to the west of the 

Page 52



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.37 

existing access road that runs to the rear of the site, would be retained, accommodating 
a further 8 spaces. Two new car parks are proposed, the first of which would be located 
to the east of the existing access road and existing buildings, upon the area which 
currently accommodates the two storey modular classroom block referred to above. 
This car park is proposed to accommodate 103 parking spaces. The second of the new 
car parks is proposed to the rear of the site, to the east of the proposed new Academy 
building. This car park would provide 82 car parking spaces, as well as a pick-up/drop 
off area, and access through to the service yard behind the new building. Across the 
site, 10 disabled bays are proposed, and an additional 7 larger spaces. 11 motorcycle 
parking spaces are also proposed adjacent to the new building. 

 
71. Sevenoaks District Council has raised objection to this application as it considers that 

the proposal would result in ‘a significant increase in car parking on site, resulting in 
harm to the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area, and having a 
negative impact upon Green Belt openness, and increasing dependence on motorised 
transport’. The Green Belt implications of the car parking areas have been considered 
and accepted in earlier paragraphs of this report. However, the amount of car parking 
does need to be considered and discussed.  

 
72. As part of this consideration, it is important to note that a local resident has expressed 

concern over the existing parking situation at school peak times, with parking on local 
roads inconveniencing local residents and restricting access to emergency vehicles. 
The District Councillor for Sevenoaks North, Matthew Dickins, has also expressed 
support for the additional car parking provision on site, due to existing parking problems 
at school pick-up and drop-off times. The applicant states that the level of car parking 
proposed is a balance between the need to provide for the transport needs of the 
Academy, whilst minimising the impact on the Green Belt. The applicant has calculated 
that Kent Vehicle Parking Standards would require a maximum of 203 car parking 
spaces, so the 195 proposed is slightly under this requirement, and a substantial 
increase over the existing provision of 109 spaces. In addition, the proposed south 
eastern car park would provide provision for visitors to the site and those dropping off 
children, negating the need to park on the public highway. 

 
73.  Although Kent County Council Highway’s and Transportation are unclear as to how the 

applicant has generated the maximum provision figure of 203 spaces, the Highway 
Officer states that of key importance in the car parking standards for schools is note 3 
which states that ‘appropriate provision should be made for the setting down and 
picking up of children in a safe environment in a manner that does not unduly interfere 
with the operation of the public highway’. The allocation for visitors and those dropping 
off children near to the site entrance is therefore welcomed and considered to be of 
road safety and local residential benefit. The actual total allocation of 195 spaces is not 
considered to be excessive by Highways and Transportation, especially when 
considering the various analyses that the applicant’s transport consultant has made and 
the school’s aspirations for the future. Whilst the School Travel Plan, in contradiction, 
rightly aims to reduce the need for this car parking, the Highways Officer agrees with 
the comments made in the submitted Travel Plan, in that adjustments or re-allocation of 
the car parking can be made, notably with respect to car sharing spaces.  

 
74.  With regard to bicycle parking, KCC standards require 1 space for every 7 pupils which 

would equate to 222 spaces. The applicant is proposing to provide 136 covered cycle 
spaces at this time, which is the amount required to achieve BREEAM credits. However, 
an area for future expansion would be set aside for the remaining 86 spaces should 
they be required in the future. I consider this to be an acceptable approach, and 
ongoing monitoring and review of the School Travel Plan would ensure that the 

Page 53



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.38 

additional cycle parking would be provided as and when required. Kent County Council 
Highway’s and Transportation confirm that adequate provision has been made for 
cycling, motorcycling, mobility impaired, minibus and coach parking.  

 
75. In considering the above, I consider that an adequate and appropriate level of car 

parking is proposed. However, should permission be granted, it would be appropriate to 
impose conditions of consent which would ensure the provision and future retention of 
the car parking, cycle parking, coach parking/waiting, access, and circulatory routes as 
proposed. In addition, I consider that an updated Travel Plan should be submitted within 
six months of the date of occupation of the development, should permission be granted, 
and that the Travel Plan should thereafter be subject to ongoing monitoring and review. 
Subject to these conditions, I see no reason to refuse this application on the grounds of 
access and car parking.  

 
Lighting 
 
76. In addition to the above, the applicant advises that the car park would be operational 

during the opening hours of the Academy, which would extend into the evening to allow 
for out of hour and community use of the proposed facilities (community use to be 
discussed below). However, the indicative details of the lighting scheme (see paragraph 
28) demonstrate a specification that would provide lighting levels lower than the 
maximum levels recommended within the appropriate guidance, with the orientation and 
angle of lamps as such that lighting levels and light spill would be well contained and 
localised. The site topography and existing and proposed tree planting would also aid in 
mitigating the visual impact of the car park, including when lit. Therefore, I consider that, 
should permission be granted, final details of the external lighting specification/scheme 
for the whole development, including the car park, access road, and the buildings, hours 
of operation and details of control mechanisms, should be submitted for the prior written 
approval of the County Planning Authority.  Subject to the imposition of that condition, I 
am satisfied that the development would not lead to undue light pollution, and see no 
reason to refuse the application on this ground. For the avoidance of doubt, lighting of 
the All Weather Pitch is not proposed. 

 
Boundary Fencing  
 
77. A local resident, who owns land to the west of the application site and uses it for the 

grazing of horses, as part of their riding centre, has expressed concern over the 
condition of the existing chestnut post and wire fencing along the western site 
boundary. The Academy has written to the resident directly, and has confirmed in 
writing their agreement to repair the fencing along this boundary, securing the 
application site and adjoining field. This matter is being dealt with as part of the 
Academy’s general maintenance and not as a requirement of this planning application. 
The resident has not contacted me further with regard to this matter so I am satisfied 
that the issue is satisfactorily resolved.  

 
Playing field provision 
 
78. Sport England has requested additional information from the applicant with regard to 

summer and winter sports pitch layout, and the provision of football pitches and cricket 
facilities. The applicant has provided this information and Sport England are currently 
formulating its formal consultation response. Members will be advised of Sport England 
views at the Planning Applications Committee meeting, and the recommendation in this 
report is, therefore, subject to Sport England’s views.  

 

Page 54



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.39 

Landscaping and Biodiversity 
 
79. As outlined in paragraphs 21-26 of this report, an Arboricultural Survey and Assessment 

was submitted in support of this application, which identified the type, size and value of 
the trees on site. A small number of individual trees and an area of scrub woodland to 
the north of the site are proposed for removal because they are either too close to the 
proposed building footprint or car parking areas. The trees are largely located to the 
north of the site and are being removed as part of the Japanese Knotweed eradication 
programme in any event. The Arboricultural Report states that the proposal would result 
in the loss of 10 trees and 3 groups of trees, including one category B tree, 8 category 
C trees and groups, and one category R tree (requires removal). No category A trees 
are to be removed. These trees would be replaced and additional trees introduced (44 
new trees in total) with the same or similar species found elsewhere on site, and would 
be located in parts of the site where they would enhance the character of the Academy, 
and provide seasonal variation. The existing trees to be retained would be protected 
during construction in accordance with BS5837: Trees in Relation to Construction. 

 
80. The County Council’s Landscape Advisor does not raise objection to this application, 

and states that proposed planting is extensive and would potentially exceed vegetation 
removal. In addition, the justification for the extent of the development is accepted, and 
it is considered that the proposed site layout and design would retain as much existing 
vegetation as possible. However, further details of the proposed landscaping scheme 
should be submitted pursuant to condition, should permission be granted. Therefore, a 
detailed scheme of landscaping and tree planting would be required pursuant to 
condition and the scheme of landscaping would be required to include details of plant 
species, sizes and locations of planting, tree protection, fencing, hard landscaping, and 
details of trees to be planted to the boundary adjacent to the proposed nursery building 
(as discussed above). In addition, a condition of consent would ensure that all trees to 
be retained are protected in accordance with BS5827: Trees in Relation to 
Construction. I consider this to be acceptable, and therefore, subject to the imposition of 
conditions, see no reason to refuse this application on landscape impact grounds. 

 
81. An Ecological Scoping Survey was also submitted with this application which was 

undertaken to identify the presence or likely presence of any notable protected species 
or habitats. The reports summary and recommendations considered that the 
presence/possible presence of Japanese Knotweed, nesting birds, bats, badgers, 
hedgehogs, reptiles and common toad should be taken into account before and during 
development works. With regard to Japanese Knotweed, I am advised that the required 
treatment programme has been completed. With regard to nesting birds, bats, badgers, 
hedgehogs, and the common toad, recommendations are made as to how works should 
proceed and what should be done should such species be discovered. With regard to 
Reptiles, the submitted mitigation strategy must be implemented and followed prior to 
and during construction works. The Scoping Survey also recommends that reptile 
fencing should be installed to isolate the application site from the adjacent SSSI to 
ensure that reptiles could not migrate during the construction works. The County 
Council’s Biodiversity Officer also recommends that further consideration should be 
given to managing and enhancing the buffer area between the proposed development 
site and the adjacent SSSI, and I consider that this could be incorporated into a habitat 
management/biodiversity enhancement plan.  

 
82. Subject to the imposition of conditions to ensure that the development is carried out in 

accordance with the submitted Ecological Surveys, and that a habitat 
management/biodiversity enhancement plan be submitted for consideration and 
approval, I do not consider that the proposed development would have a negative 

Page 55



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.40 

impact on biodiversity and/or protected species. I therefore see no reason to refuse the 
application on this ground.  

 
Community Use 
 
83. As outlined in paragraph 20 of this report, it is proposed that there would be community 

use of the school buildings and the associated sports facilities, a principle which is 
supported by Development Plan Policy and wider Government aspirations for extended 
school use and community activities. However, community use of the proposed 
facilities, and the implications of this, must be balanced against the impact upon the 
amenity of neighbouring properties. Therefore, in order to protect the amenities of local 
residential properties, it would be appropriate for details of community use to be 
submitted for approval pursuant to planning condition. These details would need to 
include proposed hours of use for indoor and external facilities, a pricing poilcy, details 
of access by non-school users/non-members, management responsibilities and a 
mechanism for review. The submitted details would be subject to consultation with 
relevant consultees to ensure that the proposed community use would not have a 
detrimental impact on the amenities of the locality. Once considered acceptable and 
approved, the community use of the facilities would be required to strictly adhere to the 
hours of use and details given. Subject to the imposition of such a condition, I consider 
that community use of the development would not have a significantly detrimental 
impact upon the amenities of the locality.  

 
Drainage and contaminated land  
 
84. The Environment Agency raises no objection to this application subject to the 

impositions of conditions. The Environment Agency require the submission of various 
components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the 
site, the submission of a verification report demonstrating completion of the remediation 
strategy regarding contamination of the site, the submission surface water drainage 
details, the submission of piling and other foundation designs which use penetrative 
methods, and conditions controlling the infiltration of surface water drainage into the 
ground. Therefore, should permission be granted, conditions would be imposed 
covering the matters raised above. That would ensure that the development would not 
result in an unacceptable level of pollution, in accordance with the principles of 
Development Plan Policy. In addition, the Environment Agency’s advice and guidance 
regarding drainage, contamination, watercourse, and fuel/chemical storage could be 
covered by an informative. 

 
Archaeology 
 
85. An Archaeological Desk Assessment accompanied this planning application. The 

County Archaeologist has concluded that in order to secure the appropriate level of 
evaluation and mitigation of archaeological potential at the site, a condition of consent 
should be imposed. It is requested that no development takes place until the applicant 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written specification and timetable. I consider that the suggested condition would 
be an appropriate requirement in ensuring an acceptable level of evaluation and 
mitigation of the archaeological potential of the site. Therefore, subject to the imposition 
of the required condition, I do not consider that this proposal would have a detrimental 
impact on archaeological remains.  
 
 
 

Page 56



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.41 

Secured by Design 
 
86. The applicant advises that the principles of Secured by Design, as they apply to 

schools, have informed the design process. The proposed development would provide 
enhanced security to the site and school buildings. Some of these matters, such as on-
site fencing and security lighting, would need careful consideration to ensure they were 
applied in a balanced way so that, for example, the visual appearance of the site was 
not compromised by inappropriate security lighting. However, they would otherwise 
accord with Development Plan Policy in respect of providing a safe and secure 
environment. If planning permission is granted these matters would be dealt with in the 
drawing up of the detailed design drawings and, in part, by planning condition i.e. 
details of lighting and on-site fencing.  

 
Sustainable construction 
 
87. The applicant advises that the project would achieve a minimum ‘Very Good’ rating 

under BREEAM for schools. As outlined in paragraph 29 of this report, the building 
would include a number of sustainable features and I consider that the applicant has 
given sufficient information within the planning application to demonstrate how the 
rating of ‘Very Good’ would be achieved. I therefore consider it sufficient and acceptable 
to condition that the development achieve at least a ‘Very Good’ rating, but not to 
request the submission of further details in relation to this. In particular, the developers 
are already tasked with meeting the exacting design standards demanded of them by 
the Academy funding process and any planning controls in this regard could be 
duplicating, and potentially conflicting with, such requirements.   

 
Construction 
 
88. Given that there are nearby residential properties, if planning permission is granted it 

would, in my view, be appropriate to impose a condition restricting hours of construction 
and demolition in order to protect residential amenity. I would suggest that works should 
be undertaken only between the hours of 0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and 
between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays.  It is also normal on school sites for contractors to be required under the 
terms of their contract to manage construction traffic/deliveries to minimise conflict with 
traffic and pedestrians at the beginning and end of the school day.   

 
89. In addition, I consider it appropriate that details of a Construction Management Strategy 

be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of development. That should 
include details of the methods and hours of working, location of site compounds and 
operative/visitors parking, details of site security and safety measures, lorry waiting and 
wheel washing facilities, and details of any construction accesses. Therefore, should 
permission be granted, a Construction Management Strategy would be required 
pursuant to condition and the development would thereafter have to be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved strategy 

 
90. In addition to the above, should permission be granted, conditions of consent would 

ensure that dust, noise, mud on the local highway network, and other matters 
associated with construction, would be mitigated as far as reasonably possible so as to 
minimise disruption to local residents.   

 
 
 

Page 57



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.42 

ConclusionConclusionConclusionConclusion     

  
91. This proposal has given rise to a variety of issues, including the need for very special 

circumstances to justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt and the impact of 
the proposed development on the openness of the Green Belt.  However, I consider 
that very special circumstances have been demonstrated in this particular case for 
overriding Green Belt policy constraints in terms of i) the education need for 
replacement and improved school accommodation to cater for pupils resident in this 
Green Belt District, ii) the lack of alternative sites and sites not in the Green Belt and iii) 
the mitigation proposed by the applicant with regard to the visual impact on this part of 
the Green Belt. In addition, subject to the imposition of the conditions outlined 
throughout this report, I consider that the proposed development would not have a 
significantly detrimental impact on local residential amenity or the local highway 
network, and would accord with the principles of sustainable development as set out in 
the NPPF. Therefore, subject to the views of Sport England and subject to the 
imposition of conditions, I am of the opinion that the proposed development would not 
give rise to any material harm and is otherwise in accordance with the general aims and 
objectives of the relevant Development Plan Policies and the guidance contained in the 
NPPF. Therefore, I recommend that the application be referred to the Secretary of 
State as a departure from the Development Plan on Green Belt grounds, and that 
subject to his decision, permission be granted subject to appropriate conditions 

 

RecommendationRecommendationRecommendationRecommendation 

 
92. SUBJECT TO the views of Sport England, I RECOMMEND that the application BE 

REFERRED to the Secretary of State as a departure from the Development Plan on 
Green Belt grounds, and that subject to his decision that PLANNING PERMISSION BE 
GRANTED SUBJECT TO conditions, including conditions covering: 

 
§ the standard time limit (5 years in this instance); 
§ the development to be carried out in accordance with the permitted details; 
§ removal of the modular classroom building and completion of the south eastern 

car park within one month of completion and decant into the new build; 
§ the submission of details of all materials to be used externally; 
§ details of all external lighting, including hours of operation; 
§ a scheme of landscaping, including hard surfacing, its implementation and 

maintenance; 
§ The provision of trees to the boundary with number 4 Oast Cottages; 
§ measures to protect trees to be retained; 
§ habitat management plan/biodiversity enhancement strategy, including monitoring 

and management; 
§ no tree removal during the bird breeding season; 
§ development to accord with the recommendations of the ecological survey; 
§ reptile mitigation and fencing; 
§ a programme of archaeological works.; 
§ Secured by Design principles to be adopted; 
§ a BREEAM rating of ‘Very Good’ to be achieved; 
§ details of community use relating to use of the indoor and outdoor facilities, 

including hours of use; 
§ submission of an updated Travel Plan within six months of occupation, and 

thereafter ongoing monitoring and review; 
§ provision and retention of car parking, coach parking/waiting, cycle parking, 

access, circulatory routes and turning areas; 

Page 58



Item D1Item D1Item D1Item D1    

Redevelopment of existing school site including the erection of a 

three storey academy building at Knole Academy – SE/12/1163 

 

 D1.43 

§ further works with regards to contaminated land; 
§ details of surface water drainage; 
§ details of piling and other penetrative foundation designs; 
§ control of surface water drainage; 
§ hours of working during construction and demolition to be restricted to between 

0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on 
Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank Holidays; 

§ construction management strategy, including access, lorry routing, parking and 
circulation within the site for contractor’s and other vehicles related to construction 
and demolition operations; 

§ measures to prevent mud and debris being taken onto the public highway. 
 
93. I FURTHER RECOMMEND THAT the applicant BE ADVISED of the following 

informatives: 
§ Account should be taken of Environment Agency’s advice relating to drainage and 

soakaways, contamination, watercourses and fuel/chemical storage; 

 

 
Case officer – Mary Green        01622 221066                                   

 
Background documents - See section heading 
 

 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



 

D2.1 

Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at 

Ethelbert Road Primary School, Ethelbert Road, Faversham – 

SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 
 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 9 
October 2012 
 
Application by Kent County Council Education, Learning and Skills for three single storey 
extensions to main school building, including staff room, planning preparation area room, 
learning resources area and ancillary accommodation, enabling the provision of an additional 
classroom within the existing building, alongside provision of new ramp to front entrance at 
Ethelbert Road Primary School, Ethelbert Road, Faversham, Kent, ME13 8SQ – SW/12/884 
(KCC/SW/0180/2012) 
 
Recommendation: Permission be refused.  
 
Local Member: Mr T. Gates                                                             Classification: Unrestricted 

 

Site 

 
1. The application site falls within the grounds of Ethelbert Road Primary School, Faversham.  

Ethelbert Road is a small primary school located to the south of Faversham town centre, 
close to London Road (A2).  The school is positioned on a small plot of land (approximately 
0.24ha) surrounded by residential properties, with a single point of access off Ethelbert 
Road to the north.  The main school building fronts onto Ethelbert Road to north-west of the 
plot, with a car park (approximately 6 spaces) and rear access to the north-east, main hard 
play space to the south, and a small modern classroom building positioned to the rear of the 
school adjacent to the western boundary.  The site is enclosed by a traditional brick wall to 
the south, east and west.  The school building is constructed in a Victorian style and dates 
from the early twentieth century.  A typical elevation consists of yellow stock bricks 
interspersed with stone work, with double height sash windows under steeply pitched tiled 
roofs, featuring distinctive gable ends.  The building forms an important part of the character 
and history of the area, although it is not formally listed.   

 
2. The application site falls within the school grounds and consist of 3 small areas of hard 

standing (totalling approximately 120m
2
) positioned immediately to the north-west, west and 

south-east of the main building.  It is noted that the proposed locations to the north-west 
and west of the school are positioned close to the boundary wall shared with adjacent 
residential property.  The areas identified are currently used for pedestrian circulation 
space, access and storage, with the area to the south east currently accommodating a 
wooden shed. 

 
3. The Primary School currently consists of 7 year groups totalling 164 pupils from September 

2012 with approximately 20 (full time equivalent) members of staff.   
 

 

Agenda Item D2

Page 61



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.2 

4. The application site falls within the built-up area of Faversham as defined by the Swale 
Borough Local Plan Proposals Map.  The school grounds are also within a Groundwater 
Vulnerability Zone overlying a Major Aquifer, as defined by the Environment Agency.  There 
are no other site specific designations, although more general development plan policies 
are set out in paragraph (10) below. 

 

Background 

 
5. Ethelbert Road School changed its status in September 2008 from an Infant to a Primary 

School.  At the time the Infant School had a planned admission number (PAN) of 37 
children across 3 year groups with an approximate total of 111 pupils.  An additional 52 
nursery children were also accommodated on site within a private nursery school (163 
pupils in total).  Following the change in status in 2008 the Primary School had a PAN of 15 
pupils across 7 years.  Due to local demand for school places, in 2011 the Primary School 
was officially expanded to a full 1 form-entry school (with a PAN of 30 pupils allowing for up 
to 210 children in total).   Following this decision the school roll is currently expanding as the 
smaller year groups move through the school and the full planned admission of 30 pupils 
start from the reception year.  As previously indicated, a total of 164 pupils are attending the 
School from September 2012.   

 
6. The increase in the number of classes and pupils has been achieved to date through the 

relocation of the privately run pre-school away from the site (relocating 52 children), and 
through the use of additional teaching spaces provided within existing extensions to the 
original school building.  These extensions include a single storey art classroom building 
that was permitted to the rear of the main school in 2010 (under reference SW/10/288), and 
an extension to the west of the main school (permitted under SW/02/1228) which (at the 
time) provided special needs facilities including therapy space, office, storage and toilets.  In 
more recent years this space has been used to provide additional teaching space. 

 

Proposal 
 

7. The application proposes the construction of 3 separate single storey extensions to the 
main school building with a new ramp to the front entrance.  The first extension proposed to 
the north-west corner of the main building (fronting onto Ethelbert Road) would 
accommodate a replacement staff room (30m

2
) and a planning preparation area room 

(25m
2
). Immediately behind which is the existing extension permitted in 2002 referred to 

above.  Beyond this (to the west of the main school), the second extension proposed would 
provide a learning resources room (40m

2
) by infilling a small courtyard area between the 

building and the boundary wall.  The third extension would be located to the south east 
corner (to the rear of the school building) and would provide new toilet and care suite 
facilities (20 m

2
).  A total of 115m

2
 of additional floorspace would be created by the 

proposed development. 
 
8. The provision of new accommodation would enable existing floorspace within the main 

building to be remodelled.  The revised internal layout (which on its own does not require 
planning permission) would provide additional toilet facilities and allow an existing 
undersized teaching area to be expanded to provide a full classroom (49 m

2
).  This 

extended teaching space would bring the total number of full classrooms available within the 

Page 62



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.3 

school to 7 (6 rooms within the main school and 1 within a small building to the rear).   
 
9. The design of the proposed extensions would reflect the architecture of the main school 

building, duplicating existing features and external materials.  This would include: matching 
brickwork, composite stone banding and coping, gauged brick arches over external 
openings and timber sash windows.  The design approach proposed for the front extension 
for the new staff room (facing the street) extends the existing façade to the west, re-creating 
the pitched roof line with gable end adjacent to the site boundary.  Behind which the 
extensions proposed to the side and rear of the main school building would feature timber 
sash windows with parapet walls and composite stone copping above a flat roof.  New 
window openings are also shown to the west elevation of the existing extension permitted in 
2002, to compensate for light lost as a result of the extensions proposed immediately to the 
north and south of this part of the school building. 

 
 
 

Site Location Plan  
 

 

 

© Crown Copyright and database right 2012. Ordnance Survey 100019238 

 

Page 63



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.4 

Existing Block Plan  
 

 

 

Proposed Block Plan 
 

 

 

Page 64



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.5 

Proposed Floor Plan 
 

Western 

boundary 

with 

residential 

Property 

Side 

Extensions 

Rear Extension 

Street scène  

New Ramp 

1m 

2.1m 

1m Distance 

between 

extension and 

boundary 

Front 

Extensions 

Page 65



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.6 

View south 
east from 
Ethelbert 
Road 
showing 
location of 
front 
extension -
school 
building 
(left) and 
residential 
property at 
3 Ethelbert 
Road 
(right). 
 
 
View south from Ethelbert Road 
showing location of front extension 
including the relationship with adjacent 
residential property at 3 Ethelbert Road 
(right) and existing extension permitted 
in 2002.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
View north west from rear playground 
toward main building showing 
proposed location of rear extension. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.7 

Existing Elevations 
 

 

Street scene 

Page 67



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.8 

Proposed Elevations 
 

Extension 

Extension 

Extension Extension 

Extension 

Extension 

New ramp 

Street scene 

New windows to 

existing extension 

Page 68



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.9 

Planning Policy  

 
10. The most relevant Government Guidance and Development Plan Policies summarised 

below are appropriate to the consideration of this application: 
 

(i) National Planning Policy and Guidance – the most relevant National planning 
policies and policy guidance are set out in:  

 

National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) sets out the Government’s 
planning policy guidance for England and as guidance is a material consideration for 
the determination of planning applications.  It does not change the statutory status of 
the development plan which remains the starting point for decision making.   

  
The NPPF contains a presumption in favour of sustainable development, indentifying 3 
overarching roles in the planning system - economic, social and environmental, 
which are considered mutually dependent.  Within the over-arching roles there are 12 
core principles that planning should achieve.  These can be summarised as:  

• be genuinely plan-led;  

• a creative exercise in finding ways to enhance and improve the places people live 
their lives;  

• proactively drive and support sustainable economic development;  

• secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity;  

• take account of the different roles and character of different areas, including 
protecting Green Belts, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and supporting thriving rural communities;  

• support the transition to a low carbon future, taking account of flood risk and costal 
change and encourage the reuse of existing resources and the development of 
renewable energy;  

• contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing 
pollution  

• encourage the effective use of land by reusing brownfield land, providing that it is 
not of high environmental value;  

• promote mixed use developments;  

• conserve heritage assets;  

• manage patterns of growth to make fullest use of public transport, walking and 
cycling; and focus significant development in locations which can be made 
sustainable; and  

• take account of strategies to improve health, social and cultural well being, and 
deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to meet local needs.  

 
In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this development 
proposal, the following NPPF guidance is particularly relevant:   

 

• Chapter 4 (Promoting sustainable transport);  

• Chapter 7 (Requiring good design);and  

• Chapter 8 (Promoting healthy communities);   
 

Page 69



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.10 

The Framework also requires that local planning authorities should look for solutions 
rather than problems.  It states that those determining applications should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  

 

(ii) The South East Plan (2009): 
 

Policy SP3 Seeks to focus development within urban areas to foster access to 
services and avoid unnecessary travel. 

 
Policy CC1 Seeks to achieve and maintain sustainable development in the region. 

 
Policy CC4 Seeks new development to adopt sustainable construction standards and 

techniques. 
 

Policy CC6 Seeks sustainable and distinctive communities that respect the character 
of settlements and landscapes, and achieve a high quality built 
environment.  

 
Policy NRM1 Seeks to maintain and enhance ground water quality through the 

avoiding adverse effects of development on the water environment. 
 

Policy BE1  Seeks new development to help improve the built environment with 
design solutions relevant to local character, distinctiveness and sense of 
place.  

 
Policy S3 Seeks to ensure the adequate provision of pre-school, school, and 

community learning facilities. 
 

Important note concerning the South East Plan: 
Members will be aware of the relevant South East Plan policy considerations in relation to 
the proposed development, in that The Plan was revoked and later reinstated pending the 
enactment of the Localism Bill.  Members will also be aware that they have to have regard 
to the policies in the SEP and the Government’s intention to abolish the Regional Spatial 
Strategies (RSS) as material considerations. However the weight to be accorded is a 
matter for the decision makers.  Members will note that the Localism Bill has now been 
enacted; however the SEP remains in effect until such time as the Government complete 
the formal process of revoking the Plan   

 

(iii)  Swale Borough Local Plan (2008) Policies: 
  

Policy SP1   In meeting the development needs of the Borough, proposals should 
accord with principles of Sustainable Development, including minimising 
impact on the environment, ensuring provision of community 
infrastructure, supporting existing local services, and a high quality of 
design that respects local distinctiveness. 

 
Policy SP2  Requires development proposals to protect and enhance the special 

features of the visual, aural, ecological, historical, atmospheric and 

Page 70



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.11 

hydrological environments of the Borough and promote good design in its 
widest sense. 

 
Policy SP7  Seeks the provision of new community facilities and services. 
 
Policy FAV1 Within the Faversham Area, amongst other matters, conservation of the 

historic and natural environment is the prime and overriding 
consideration.  In this context the policy seeks to enhance the role of the 
market town to support its own local needs, to set scales of development 
that reflect local needs and environmental character, and to raise the 
standard of the environment through high quality design, and the 
protection, enhancement, and management of environmental resources. 

 
Policy E1  Development proposals should, amongst other matters, seek to reflect 

the positive characteristics of the locality; protect and enhance the natural 
and built environments; be well sited and of a scale, design and 
appearance that is appropriate to its location; cause no demonstrable 
harm to residential amenity and other sensitive uses.  

 
Policy E2 Requires development all development proposals to minimise and 

mitigate pollution impacts. 
 

Policy E19 Seeks development to be of high quality design that responds positively 
to creating safe, accessible, and attractive places; enriching the qualities 
of the existing environment by promoting local distinctiveness and 
strengthening the sense of place; appropriate to its context in respect of 
scale, height and massing; making best use of texture, colour, pattern 
and durability of materials; and achieving flexibility to respond to future 
changes in use, lifestyle and demography. 

 
Policy E20  The Borough Council expects proposals to integrate security and safety 

measures within their design and layout. 
 
Policy E24 Requires extensions to existing buildings that are high quality design, in 

scale (by height and massing) in relation to the building's surroundings, 
maintain or enhance the character of the street scene, preserve 
architectural, landscape, or nature conservation features of interest and 
protects residential amenity. 

 
Policy C1  Supports proposals for new or improved community facilities, where 

proposals would meet an identified local need in an accessible location; 
and supports proposals that would help maximise the use of existing 
public and private community services and facilities. 

Page 71



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.12 

Consultations 

 

11. Swale Borough Council – no objection, subject to the development commencing no later 
than 3 years from the date of planning permission. 

 

Faversham Town Council – no objection, supports the expansion of this school to a full 
primary. 

 

Environment Agency – no comment, the Agency has assessed the application as posing 
a low environmental risk, directing the applicant to its best practice guidance. 

 

Kent Highways and Transportation – no objection to the proposal in respect of highway 
matters 

 
In response to the application and the objections received from local residents Kent 
Highways comments can be summarised as follows: 

 
Kent Highways appreciate that the total number of pupils attending the school would be able 
to rise if the proposed extension were permitted, however this appears possible merely due 
to an existing classroom being enlarged to compare with the other classrooms at the 
school.  The proposal would not affect the numbers of classes at the school, and the 
number of teaching staff would remain the same, although it is expected that support staff 
will reduce slightly.  As parking provision required for primary schools is based upon staff 
numbers, and this would not increase with the current application, there would be no 
requirement to seek additional parking provision. 

 
Kent Highways note that whilst local residents may have concerns over parking at the 
beginning and end of the school day, with parents dropping off or collecting their children, 
this is an existing situation that only occurs over a relatively short period of the day.  On- 
street parking is allowed in the immediate area surrounding the school, and the saturation of 
parking demand at those times just means that availability is less, and vehicles may have to 
park further away than they would desire to find a parking space.  Any increase in parking 
demand as a result of this proposal is unlikely to be significant, and would be absorbed into 
the surrounding streets. 

 

Local Member 

 
12. The local County Member for Faversham, Mr T. Gates was notified of the application on 25 

June 2012. 
 

Publicity 

 
13. The application was publicised by the posting of a site notice, and the individual notification 

of 22 neighbouring properties. 
 
 
 

Page 72



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.13 

Representations 

 
14. In response to the publicity, 2 letters of representation have been received from 

neighbouring properties objecting to the application.  The key points raised can be 
summarised as follows: 

 

• Objects to the expansion in number of pupils that would attend the school; notes that the 
school roll has risen in recent years from a half form-entry (approximately 105 pupils + 
52 nursery pupils) to a proposed 1FE primary school (210 pupils).  Draws attention to 
the steady increase in the school roll from 69 pupils in 1997.  

• Objects to the potential increase in vehicle movements that would accompany an 
expansion of the school roll, including associated parking and access problems 
generated by parents using the surrounding residential roads. 

• Considers that an increase in vehicle movements would have an undue impact on the 
public highway and in turn residential amenities, through the number and volume of 
movements generated on a daily basis. 

• Raises concern about the number of vehicles already parking in the street in connection 
with evening events taking place at the school.  

• Raises concerns that the size of the school roll is becoming too large for the space 
available on site, including the communal facilities like outdoor playground space, school 
hall and the toilet facilities available. 

• Highlights the findings of a 2003 Ofsted report (prepared when 91 pupils attended the 
school) which raised concern that the main hall only provided adequate space for 
physical education for the number of pupils at that time. 

• Points out that the provision of the large art room extension in 2011 impacted on the 
amount of outdoor play space available within the site. 

• Raises concern about footballs and other objects travelling from the playground over 
school wall into neighbouring residents gardens, is concerned that the proposed 
expansion of the school would only intensify this issue; 

• Raises concerns about loud music played during outdoor lessons and break times 
impacting on residential amenities.  

 

Discussion 

 
15. The application seeks planning permission for 3 small extensions to Ethelbert Road School, 

including a new pedestrian access ramp.  The application is being reported to the Planning 
Applications Committee as a result of 2 letters of representation received from nearby 
residents objecting to the application, primarily on highway grounds and the capacity of the 
school to accommodate an increase in pupil numbers.  Please see paragraphs (11) and 
(14) for details of the representations received.   

 
16. In considering this proposal, regard must be had to the Development Plan Policies and 

Government Guidance outlined in paragraph (10) above.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that applications are determined in accordance 
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Therefore, 
this proposal needs to be considered in the context of the Development Plan Policies, 
National Planning Policy Framework, other Government Guidance and any other material 

Page 73



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.14 

planning considerations arising during the consideration of the application. 
 
17. In my opinion, the main determining issues in this particular case can be summarised by the 

following: 
 

• design and layout;   

• highway considerations; and 

• other relevant planning considerations. 
 

Design and layout 
 
18. Swale Borough Local Plan Policies FAV1, E1, E19 and E24 seek new development within 

the Faversham area that conserves or enhances the built environment through high quality 
design that reflects local distinctiveness and is appropriate to its context in terms of scale, 
height, massing and appearance, and that causes no material harm to residential amenity. 

 
19. The design approach proposed in this instance seeks to reflect the character of the main 

school by picking up on key features and materials.  The most visually prominent of the 
three extensions fronts onto Ethelbert Road in a location that would have an impact on the 
appearance of school within the street scene.  The proposals extend the existing façade 
approximately 6m to the west, recreating the fenestration and roof line with materials to 
match the existing building.  The detailing proposed would include stone work, feature 
brickwork and double hung sliding sash windows.  To the front of this elevation, the new 
pedestrian access ramp proposed to the main entrance includes a metal balustrade and 
timber handrail.  The extensions behind this front elevation, proposed to the side and rear of 
the school, would adopt a smaller scale flat roof construction set behind parapet walls with 
composite stone copping to reflect the detailing on the main building.      

 
20. In my opinion, the visual appearance of the proposals would be sympathetic to the existing 

built development, the design responds positively to the style and character of the school 
building, and conserves the local distinctiveness.  Subject to a condition requiring the 
submission of external materials for approval, I have no reservations over the design 
approach in terms of the external appearance and am satisfied that this aspect of the 
development would accord with the relevant development plan polices.  

 
21. However, notwithstanding the above, I draw Members’ attention to the layout of the 

proposals in relation to the western site boundary and residential properties beyond.  Due to 
the limited space available within the school grounds, the proposed layout would see two of 
the extensions constructed close to the existing site boundary wall.  The proposals allow for 
a side passageway between the building and the wall to be retained, which narrows at the 
closest point to approximately 1m wide.  The proposed layout generally reflects the building 
line adopted by an existing side extension permitted in 2002, and is not dissimilar to the 
degree of separation achieved between the surrounding residential development.  I am 
content that the scale and mass of the extensions reflect the character of the main school 
building.  However, in my opinion, the key consideration in this case is the proximity, scale, 
height and massing of the proposals in relation to the adjacent residential properties.   

 
22. Whilst I note that the development would include a number of new facing windows, I am 

Page 74



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.15 

satisfied that the proposals (including the new windows proposed within the existing 
extension) would not have a material impact on the privacy of adjacent residential 
properties.  In particular, views from the proposed ground floor openings to the west would 
be largely screened by the boundary wall, which would be retained as part of the 
development, and by planting to the rear of the gardens that back onto the site.  However, 
Members will note that the property at 3 Ethelbert Road (directly adjacent to the front 
extension) is oriented such that a flank elevation faces the school.  This elevation has one 
facing window to a second storey room.  Given this window’s height above ground, it is 
likely that the neighbouring property would overlook rooms within the proposed 
development, as opposed to the other way around. 

 
23. The elevation to elevation distance between the proposed front extension and 3 Ethelbert 

Road would be approximately 2.5m at the closest point, widening out to approximately 3.5m 
nearer to the street.  As can be seen in the photographs above, this residential property is a 
bungalow that includes a loft extension.  The house contains a facing window to a first floor 
room to the east of the property, below which is a garage.  A number of roof lights increase 
light to the interior of the building.   

 
24. The north-west corner of the extension proposed to the front of the school grounds includes 

a double height gable end mirroring the existing roofscape.  The height of this gable end 
would reach 6.5m at the ridgeline at less than 2m from the shared boundary.  This part of 
the proposals would be adjacent to the drive way and the north east corner of 3 Ethelbert 
Road and has the potential to overshadow the adjacent property.  Behind the pitched roofed 
element of this extension, a flat roof above the proposed planning preparation (PPA) room 
would rise up to approximately 3.7m in height (including the parapet wall) at 1m from the 
boundary and directly adjacent to the side wall of 3 Ethelbert Road.   

 
25. Due to the proportions and massing of the proposed front extensions and the proximity to 

the adjacent bungalow I have reservations that the development could have an undue 
impact through overshadowing, a potential loss of light and an overbearing sense of 
enclosure.  I also note that due to the proximity of the buildings, daylight reaching rooms 
within parts of the proposed extensions and existing school building would be restricted.  
Whilst it is not a planning consideration and therefore not a matter for the Planning 
Applications Committee, the proposed close proximity of the buildings each with window 
openings could also present a fire spread issue, which would need to be addressed under 
Building Regulations should permission be granted. 

 
26. Members will note that no objections have been received from Swale Borough Council, 

Faversham Town Council or neighbouring residents on design grounds.  Whilst there have 
been no objections received concerning the design of the development, including from the 
nearest neighbouring occupier, it is still important to safeguard the amenities of both 
present and future occupants of neighbouring properties.  The layout of 3 Ethelbert Road is 
such that only one habitable room is located directly adjacent to the shared boundary; the 
space below is occupied by a garage.  Whilst this layout would serve to minimise the 
potential for a loss of light to the interior of the house, due to the proximity and size of the 
extension proposed, the development would still have the potential to overshadow the 
property, particularly the facing window, potentially skylights to the eastern end of the roof 
and the area fronting the house. 

Page 75



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.16 

 
27. Whilst the overall design of the extensions is considered acceptable and performs positively 

against the development plan policies in place, in my opinion, the layout of the development 
in relation to neighbouring property is misconceived and too close given the height and 
mass of the extension proposed.  On this basis I consider that the development would be 
contrary to Swale Borough Local Plan Policies E1, E19 and E24, which seek development 
that is well sited and of a scale, height and massing that is appropriate to its location, and 
causes no material harm to residential amenity.  Taking the above into consideration, on 
balance, I am inclined to raise an objection to the layout of the development as proposed.  

 

Highway considerations  
 
28. The objections received from nearby residents include concerns about the increasing school 

roll and the potential for an associated increase in congestion generated on the public 
highway network during peak times. The objections received highlight that any increase in 
pupil and/or staff numbers could exacerbate highway impacts which in turn could have a 
detrimental effect on residential amenities.  The highway issues raised include perceived 
access and parking problems on the surrounding roads at the start and end of the school 
day, as well as during any evening use of the school site.   

 
29. Representations received from residents highlight the change to the status of the school, 

from an infant to a primary school, that took place in 2008, and the subsequent expansion in 
the overall number of pupils attending the site over the intervening years.   It should be 
noted that the current school roll (as of September 2012) is 164 pupils; this is not dissimilar 
to the numbers of pupils that attended the site prior to 2008, only that the make up of pupils 
is slightly different.  Pre 2008 approximately 100 pupils attended the Infant School with a 
further 52 children attending a privately run nursery that shared the accommodation.  This 
private nursery was subsequently relocated off site, which released space to accommodate 
the expansion of the Primary School.  It should be noted that the school is in the process of 
a gradual expansion up to a total of 210 pupils with a planned admission number of 30 
pupils per year.  Whilst these changes may in the future slightly increase the number of 
people attending the site above previous levels, the decision to accept this change has long 
since been adopted by the Education Authority and does not form part of the current 
proposals.   

 
30. The current application seeks to ease pressure for space within the school building by 

providing ancillary accommodation, such as a staff room and learning resources area, which 
would support the overall education use.  The extensions do not provide for additional 
classroom space; should the current application be refused there would no reduction in 
numbers of people attending the site, now or in the future.  It is noted that the applicant 
plans to re-organise the internal layout of the existing building to provide a 7

th
 classroom by 

expanding an existing room within the main school used to teach smaller groups to provide 
a full classroom space.  This arrangement would bring the number of classrooms on site up 
to the number needed to support a 1 form-entry primary school.  However, these internal 
works do not require planning approval and could be carried out irrespective of any decision 
on this application.     

 

Page 76



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.17 

31. Notwithstanding this, Kent Highways and Transportation has commented on the application 
including the objections received from local residents.  The Local Highway Authority raises 
no objection to the application in respect of highway matters, confirming that the congestion 
and demand for parking on the public highway generated by the enlarged school roll is 
unlikely to be significant, and could be absorbed into the surrounding streets without an 
unacceptable impact in highway terms.    

 
32. In response to the objections received concerning the application the headteacher has 

confirmed that the School are currently working with Kent Highways and Transportation to 
update their Travel Plan.  The headteacher highlights that the vast majority of pupils (85%) 
walk to and from school on a daily basis or attend breakfast and after school club, which 
serves to stagger the start/end to the school day reducing congestion.  The headteacher 
also points out that an expansion of the local residential parking permit scheme into nearby 
roads has potentially caused commuters to now park in Ethelbert, Canute and Egbert 
Roads which may have increased local residents awareness of on street parking issues.  
The headteacher has confirmed that the School does have some evening functions 
including regular community use of the school hall.  I am led to believe that the existing 
community uses do not generate significant demand for parking.  The headteacher does 
acknowledge that occasional school events, like performances or parent/teacher meetings, 
do generate on street parking in the evenings, and she has undertaken to encourage more 
parents to walk to these events.   
 

33. The above information is helpful in responding to local residents concerns, however, on the 
basis that the application does not directly enable an increase in the number of staff and/or 
pupils I do not consider that there are grounds to sustain a material planning objection to 
the proposals in respect of highway matters.   

 

Other planning considerations 
 
34. The application site overlies a principal aquifer, which means groundwater would be at risk 

from activities on site.  The Environment Agency has indicated that the application poses a 
low environmental risk and that subject to the applicant following its best practice guidance 
the development would be acceptable in this location.  Should planning permission be 
granted I recommend an informative drawing the applicant’s attention to the Agency’s 
guidance.  

 
35. An objection received from a nearby resident raises concern that the shared facilities within 

the school buildings and grounds, like the assembly hall, toilet facilities, and external 
playground space, would not be adequate to support the expanding school roll.  Whilst this 
clearly is a practical consideration, I do not consider it to be material from a land use 
planning perspective or grounds to consider refusing the application.  The proposed 
extensions would result in a small reduction in available play space, however none of the 
extensions are excessively large (in terms of floorspace) and none are located on areas that 
form part of the main playground.  In my opinion, this issue is more a site management 
consideration for the Education Authority and the School’s Governing Body to reassure 
themselves on.   

 

Page 77



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.18 

36. In response to this point the applicant has confirmed that the available playground space 
would be adequate for 210 pupils.  The School currently staggers lunchtimes between key-
stages 1 and 2 children.  The headteacher acknowledges that the school hall does not 
provide adequate space to teach the full physical education curriculum, and for many years 
the School have used alternate arrangements in nearby Faversham Gym and Abbey 
School.  The headteacher confirms that the school hall is considered large enough for 
whole school assemblies and lunchtime use, even for 210 pupils. It is noted that the 
extensions proposed seek to provide additional ancillary accommodation that enables the 
provision of new facilities to support the school curriculum, such as a new learning 
resources area and staff preparation space and accommodation, alongside the provision of 
additional toilet facilities.  The applicant confirms that the new toilet facilities will meet the 
needs of the children and staff.  

 
37. A neighbouring resident has also raised concern over amenity impacts resulting from the 

number of footballs and other objects that find there way into local residents gardens as a 
result of the use of the playground.  Alongside reservations about the use of loud music 
during outdoor lessons.  The letter received raises concern that any increase in pupil 
numbers could exacerbate these issues through the intensification of the use of the play 
space.  Both of the above considerations are site management issues that would need to be 
addressed outside of the planning process.  The headteacher has confirmed that in 
response to previous complaints playtime supervision has been increased and the School 
will continue to work with residents in response to any ongoing concerns. 

 

Conclusion 

 
38. In concluding, I note that the application has attracted objections from neighbouring 

residents concerning the potential expansion of the school roll.  As set out above, I do not 
consider that this issue is a key material consideration for the current application, as the 
extensions proposed would not directly provide for an increase in classroom space.  The 
facilities proposed would provide ancillary accommodation that would support delivery of the 
curriculum as opposed to enabling an expansion of the school.  The decision to allow the 
ongoing expansion of this primary school was taken by the Education Authority and the 
School Management Team in 2011 and can not be revisited as a result of the current 
application.    

 
39. I consider that the external appearance of the proposed extensions would be acceptable, in 

preserving the character and appearance of the surrounding built environment and the 
street scene.  However, given the concerns over the layout of the front extension in relation 
to the adjacent residential property I am unable to conclude that the development would 
have no adverse impacts on residential amenities.   

 
40. Whilst the benefits of the proposed development to this community facility are an important 

consideration, on balance, taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and 
material considerations raised during the processing of this application, I recommend that 
planning permission be refused in this instance on the grounds set out below. 

Page 78



Item D2 

Three single storey extensions to main school building at Ethelbert 

Road Primary School, Faversham – SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) 

 

D2.19 

 

Recommendation 

 
41. I RECOMMEND that PERMISSION BE REFUSED, on the following grounds: 
 

• The proposals, by reason of siting, scale and proximity to the boundary, would have a 
detrimental overbearing and overshadowing impact upon adjacent residential property at 
3 Ethelbert Road, to the detriment of the residential amenities of this property.  The 
proposal is therefore considered contrary to Policies E1, E19 and E24 of Swale Borough 
Local Plan. 

 
 

Case Officer: James Bickle Tel. no: 01622 221068 

 

Background Documents:  see section heading 
 

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



E1 COUNTY MATTER APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS PURSUANT 

PERMITTED/APPROVED/REFUSED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS - 

MEMBERS’ INFORMATION   

     
                                                                                         
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me  
under delegated powers:- 
 

Background Documents - The deposited documents. 

 
AS/01/677/MR7/ Request for approval of details relating to Night-Watchman’s 
R16 & R24  accommodation and aftercare scheme pursuant to conditions 16 and 

24 of planning permission AS/01/677/MR7. 
Crundale Lime Works, Crundale, Canterbury 

 
AS/11/981/R5, 8 & 11 Submission of details pursuant to conditions 5 (archaeology), 8 (foul 

and surface water drainage) and 11 (means of enclosure) of planning 
permission AS/11/981 for a household waste recycling centre and 
waste transfer station. 
Ashford Household Waste Recycling Centre, Cobbs Wood Industrial 
Estate, Brunswick Road, Ashford 
 

AS/12/813  Section 73 application to vary conditions 4 and 17 of planning 
permission AS/11/981 to allow a 0.5m reduction in permitted ground 
levels across the site, alongside changes to the permitted site layout 
and building design. 

   Ashford Household Waste Recycling Centre, Cobbs Wood Industrial 
Estate, Brunswick Road, Ashford 

 
CA/10/285/R2, 3, 4 Removal of condition 2 - Management/provision of a GCN habitat;  
& 5                        construction car parking details pursuant to condition 3; external 

finishes pursuant to condition 4 and external lighting details pursuant 
to condition 5 of planning permission CA/10/285. 

   Plots D and E, Lakesview Business Park, Hersden, Canterbury 
 
DA/11/1043/R39 Request for approval of details pursuant to condition 39 (landfill gas 

and leachate collection, pumping and control infrastructure) of 
planning permission DA/11/1043. 

   Pinden Quarry, Green Street Green Road, Longfield, Dartford 
 
DO/10/954/R41A Submission of further details pursuant to condition 41 of planning 

permission DO/10/954 – Archaeological Investigation and Geo-
Archaeological report following Borehole Investigation. 
Thanet Waste Services, Site B, Ramsgate Road, Richborough 
 

DO/12/413 Section 73 application for minor-material amendment to planning 
permission DO/10/954 - Waste Processing Developments - Site B: 

 Re-orientation of soil washing plant; revisions to layout for lorry 
parking; provision of portacabin for office/staff facilities in place of 
permanent building as approved; siting of additional portacabin for 
mess facilities; alterations to weighbridge office building; alterations to 
aggregate storage bays. 

 Land North of Stevens & Carlotti, Ramsgate Road, Richborough, 
Sandwich 

        E1 

Agenda Item E1

Page 81



SE/12/1516 Section 73 application to vary conditions 29 and 30 of permission 
SE/98/234 to retain the Cowden exploration site, access and wellhead 
valve assembly for a further period of one year to allow time for the 
borehole abandonment and restoration. 

 Cowden Exploration Site, Field No. 0002, Claydene Farm, Off 
Hartfield Road, Cowden, Edenbridge 

 
SW/11/1291  Proposed anaerobic digestion plant and associated ground profiling 

and landscaping. 
  Land off Barge Way, Kemsley, Sittingbourne 
 
SW/12/927 Change of use of building 17 from B2/B8 to waste wood shredding 

and external storage of processed waste wood. 
 Building 17, Ridham Dock, Iwade, Sittingbourne 
 
SW/12/1069 Installation of permanent gas flare. 
 Land at Kemsley Paper Mill, Kemsley, Sittingbourne 
 
TH/06/730/R Non-material amendment to condition 5 (hours of operation) and 6 

(hours that waste collection vehicles may leave the site) of planning 
permission TH/06/730, to allow operations on site from 05:00 to 20:00 
hours and waste collection vehicles to leave the site from 05:00 hours 
on Thursday 19

th
 July only. 

 Manston Road Depot, Manston Road, Margate 
 
TM/88/295/R(xxx) Request for prior approval to locate a stone cutting saw and dedicated 

building pursuant to condition (xxx) of planning permission TM/88/295. 
 Hermitage Quarry, Hermitage Lane, Aylesford 
 
TM/10/1481/R16 Request for approval of ecological scheme for phase 2 area yet to be 

worked pursuant to condition16 of planning permission TM/10/1481 at 
Wrotham Quarry (Addington Sandpit). 

 Land South of M20 Motorway, Wrotham Quarry, Ford Lane, Wrotham 
Heath 

 
TM/11/2143/R3 Details of lighting scheme pursuant to condition 3 of permission 

TM/11/2143 – Development of a hazardous waste transfer station. 
 Unit 19, Mills Road, Quarry Wood Industrial Estate, Aylesford 
 
TM/11/2635/R2   Request for approval of details required by condition 2 [i.e. external 

construction materials, finishes and colours of buildings; detailed 
design of portacabins or other structures to be placed on top of the 
workshop building; external lighting; 3m high noise barrier / acoustic 
fence around the eastern and southern site boundaries; and site 
drainage (foul and surface water)] of planning permission TM/11/2635 
at Permitted Metals Recycling Facility (METRF), New Hythe Lane, 
Aylesford 

TW/12/1215 Construction of two walk-in kiosks, five sand filters and other minor 
structures to support upgrades. 

 Pembury Wastewater Treatment Works, Maidstone Road, Pembury 
 
TW/12/1381 Construction of two walk-in kiosks, a sludge storage tank and other 

minor works to support upgrades to the wastewater treatment works. 
 Tunbridge Wells South Wastewater Treatment Works, Broom Lane, 

Groombridge, Tunbridge Wells 
        E2 

Page 82



 
 

E2 CONSULTATIONS ON APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED BY DISTRICT 

COUNCILS OR GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS DEALT WITH UNDER 

DELEGATED POWERS -  MEMBERS’ INFORMATION 

 
    __________________________________________________                                                                               
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, I have considered the following applications and -
decided not to submit any strategic planning objections:- 
 

Background Documents - The deposited documents. 

 
None 
 

 

E3 COUNTY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS 

PURSUANT PERMITTED/APPROVED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

MEMBERS’ INFORMATION 

 
    __________________________________________________                                                    
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me 
under delegated powers:- 
 

Background Documents – The deposited documents. 

 
AS/10/512/R5A Further variation to condition 5: application of solar film to the window 

on the front elevation of the small hall and the window facing ‘The 
Square’. 

 Repton Park Primary School, Former Rowcroft and Templer Barracks, 
Templer Way, Ashford 

 
AS/10/512/R7 Details of external signage pursuant to condition 7 of planning 

permission reference AS/10/512 
 Repton Park Primary School, Former Rowcroft & Templar Barracks, 

Templar Way, Ashford 
 
AS/11/1305/R5 Details of a Construction Management Strategy pursuant to condition 

5 of planning permission  AS/11/1305 
 Ashford Oaks Primary School, Oak Tree Road, Ashford 
 
AS/12/598/R Non-material amendment to change the colour of the external walls of 

the mobile classroom and alter size of store room windows to match 
larger windows. 

 Furley Park Primary School, Reed Crescent, Ashford 
 
AS/12/639/R Application for a non-material amendment – The location of the solar 

PV panels has been amended from below the dormer windows on the 
south facing side of the building to above the dormer windows. 

 Ashford Highway Depot, Javelin Way, Ashford 
 
CA/12/1093 Alterations and extension to entrance, offices and toilet areas. 
 Pilgrims Way Primary School, Pilgrims Way, Canterbury 
          E3 

Page 83



 
DA/11/1073/R3 Details pursuant to condition 3 – (materials) – Erection of infill building 

between existing school house to form two new classrooms with 
circulation space. 

 West Hill Primary School, Dartford Road, Dartford 
 
DA/12/762 Planning permission for a single storey purpose built timber framed 

nursery building, a freestanding canopy and 5 parking spaces for staff 
accessed via Church Hill. 

 Oakfield Primary School, Oakfield Lane, Dartford 
 
DO/12/481 Four history teaching areas and toilet provision within a stand alone 

building on the school site. 
 Dover Grammar School for Girls, Frith Road, Dover 
 
DO/12/503 Single storey extensions and internal layout alterations to the northern 

corner of the school building. 
 Warden House Primary School, Birdwood Avenue, Deal 
 
GR/12/665 Erection of a 6 metre flag pole to the front of the school building 
 Thamesview School, Thong Lane, Gravesend 
 
MA/12/694/R Non-material amendment to fence detail approved under MA/12/694. 
 Madginford Park Junior School, Egremont Road, Maidstone 
 
MA/12/920 Demolition of existing buildings and erection of replacement sports 

hall, dining hall and kitchens and music teaching accommodation, 
together with external works. 

 Maidstone Grammar School for Girls, Buckland Road, Maidstone 
 
MA/12/1046 Planning permission to install solar PV panels on three sides of the 

external roof area. 
 Invicta House, Sessions House Square, County Hall, Maidstone 
 
MA/12/1351 Tarmac extension to bottom playground. 
 Barming Primary School, Belmont Close, Barming, Maidstone 
 
MA/12/1381 To site a portakabin within the school grounds for temporary use as 

additional teaching space. 
 Barming Primary School, Belmont Close, Barming, Maidstone 
 
SE/12/1664 To demolish a mobile classroom and rear extension to school building 

including existing toilets, changing rooms, corridor and store room and 
construct a new extension comprising a new multi-purpose hall, 
kitchenette and hall store, toilets plus a new classroom and link 
corridor 

 Ide Hill CE Primary School, Sundridge Road, Ide Hill, Sevenoaks 
 
SE/12/2053 Creation of a habitat pond which has the capacity to store flood water 

from the adjacent highway. 
 Pond Farm, Bunkers Hill Road, Ash 
 
SH/12/529 Front entrance extension, courtyard enclosure infill and canopy 

renewal. 
 Cheriton Primary School, Church Road, Folkestone 
 
          E4 

Page 84



SH/12/592 First floor extension to rear elevation of school building to provide a 
replacement classroom allowing an expansion of the existing school 
hall. 

 All Souls’ CEP School, Stanley Road, Folkestone 
 
SH/12/677 New rear extension and level access to building 
 The Bridge Centre, Whitegates Close, Hythe 
 
SW/12/706 Extension of existing school car park and alterations to soft 

landscaping 
 Meadowfield School, Swanstree Avenue, Sittingbourne 
 
SW/12/805 Relocation and reuse of existing adult education learning centre 

facilities, single storey pre-fabricated modular units for the Isle of 
Sheppey Academy East Site, with amended access arrangements 
from adjoining car parks and pedestrian walkways. 

 Isle of Sheppey Academy, East Site, Minster Road, Sheerness 
 
SW/12/885  Replacement of 1

st
 Floor Windows from casement to sash style (26 to 

classrooms and 4 to corridor windows overlooking internal courtyard). 
Grove Park Primary School, Cedar House Block, Hilton Drive, 
Sittingbourne 

 
TH/12/449 Renovation and development of existing external playground and 

teaching areas; relocation of existing shed, removal of covered sand 
pit with concrete surround, relocation of timber playhouse and general 
minor site debris, minor excavation works to extend existing area of 
hard paving into grassed slope with associated timber log retaining 
wall, areas of new and resurfacing existing areas of tarmac and slab 
paving with coloured wet pour safety surfacing, removal of existing 
lawn area and replacement with artificial turf with associated minor 
grading and formation of play moulding, creation of a new area of 
hard standing for relocated shed, supply and installation of rubber 
mulch pathway, general areas of soft landscaping of new planting with 
feature boulders, supply and installation of canvas shade sails. 

 St Crispin’s Community Primary Infant School, St Crispin’s Road, 
Westgate-on-Sea 

 
TH/12/487  Replacement of 6 temporary mobile classroom buildings with a 

modern permanent extension to main school building, providing 4 
classrooms and ancillary accommodation. 

    Callis Grange Nursery & Infant School, Beacon Road, Broadstairs 
 
TH/12/487/R3  Details pursuant to condition 3 (external materials) of planning 

permission TH/12/487 for a classroom extension to main school 
building.  

   Callis Grange Nursery & Infant School, Beacon Road, Broadstairs 
 
TH/12/488  Proposed extension to south east of Infant’s school building to provide 

2 additional classrooms, storage and toilet facilities. 
    Garlinge Primary School & Nursery, Westfield Road, Margate 
 
TH/12/501   Retrospective application for the erection of 2.4m metal palisade 

replacement fencing along the school playing field boundary 
   Ellington and Hereson School, Newlands Lane, Ramsgate 
 
       E5 

Page 85



TH/12/580 A major replacement window programme to replicate the existing 
fenestration and sash horn and glazing bar detailing. New windows 
will be formed in PVCU (white). 

 Stone Bay School, Stone Road, Broadstairs 
 
TM/11/1281/R  Non-material amendment to planning permission TM/1/1281 to allow 

one additional tree to be felled adjacent to the new classroom building. 
    Cage Green Primary School, Cage Green Road, Tonbridge 
 
TM/11/2523/R20 Details of a construction management strategy, including details of 

dust suppression and measures to be taken to prevent the deposit of 
mud on the public highway pursuant to condition 20 of planning 
permission TM/11/2523 

   Coldharbour Gypsy & Traveller Unit, Coldharbour Lane, Aylesford 
 
TM/12/192/R3  Details pursuant to condition 3 – Materials – Repositioning of single 

storey changing room pavilion for school and community use granted 
permission under application TM/11/2554, including revised car 
parking layout. 

   Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/192/R4, R5 Details pursuant to condition 4 & 5  – Soft landscaping and condition 6  
R6   Hard landscaping – Repositioning of single storey changing room 

pavilion for school and community use granted permission under 
application TM/11/2554, including revised car parking layout. 

   Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/192/R8  Details pursuant to condition 8 – Archaeology – Repositioning of 

single storey changing room pavilion for school and community use 
granted permission under application TM/11/2554, including revised 
car parking layout. 

   Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/192/R9  Details pursuant to condition 9 – Surface water drainage – 

Repositioning of single storey changing room pavilion for school and 
community use granted permission under application TM/11/2554, 
including revised car parking layout. 

   Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/192/R10 Details pursuant to condition 10 – Ground contamination – 

Repositioning of single storey changing room pavilion for school and 
community use granted permission under application TM/11/2554, 
including revised car parking layout. 

   Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/192/R14 Details pursuant to condition 14 – Contractors Compound, condition 
R15 & R16  15 - Access and circulation and condition 16 – Mud prevention -   
   Repositioning of single storey changing room pavilion for school and 

community use granted permission under application TM/11/2554, 
including revised car parking layout. 

    Wrotham School, Borough Green Road, Wrotham, Sevenoaks 
 
TM/12/629/R4 & R8 Details of landscaping proposals and details of noise abatement fence 

pursuant to conditions 4 and 8 of planning permission TM/12/629 - 
Construction of a new car park and refuse and recycling enclosure 

   The Judd School, Brook Street, Tonbridge 
      E6 

Page 86



 
 
 
 
 
TM/12/1530  Extension to existing school building to provide additional classroom, 

replacing stand alone structure, to be removed. Creation of a new 
vehicular and pedestrian access, reorganisation of car parking and 
associated landscape works. 

   West Kent Health Education Needs Service, Woodview, 40 
Teddington Drive, Leybourne, West Malling 

 
TM/12/1853  Single storey classroom extension 
   Hadlow Primary School, School Lane, Hadlow, Tonbridge 
 
TW/12/1864  Proposed single storey classroom extension. 
   Land at Broomhill Bank School, Broomhill Road, Rusthall, Tunbridge 

Wells 
 
TW/12/2146  Construction of an external lift shaft. 
   Broomhill Bank School, Broomhill Road, Rusthall, Tunbridge Wells 
 
 
 

E4 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  

ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2011 – SCREENING OPINIONS 

ADOPTED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                          

 

Background Documents –  

 

• The deposited documents. 

• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 

• DETR Circular 02/99 – Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 
(a) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does not constitute 
EIA development and the development proposal does not need to be accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement:-  
 
KCC/AS/0284/2012 – Use of land and engineering operations to infill depressed 
areas to south and east of existing lake at Knightingales, Wittersham Road, Stone, 
Tenterden 
 
KCC/SCR/AS/0285/2012 – Proposed refurbishment of the Wastewater Treatment 
Works at Brook Wastewater Treatment Works, Nats Lane, Brook, Ashford 
 
SE/90/1302/R3B and R4B – Application for the approval of details reserved by 
conditions 3 & 4 of planning permission SE/90/1302 (dated 27 March 1991) at 
Dunbrik Waste Transfer Station, Main Road, Sundridge 
 
 
 
     E7 

Page 87



 
 
 
    
KCC/SE/0321/2012 - Section 73 application to vary condition 13 (operating hours), 
condition 3 (layout and working of the site) and condition 4 (site layout) of planning 
permission SE/90/1302 to amend the operating hours of Dunbrik Transfer Station 
and install a hardcore disposal bin in the external yard area of the transfer station 
site at Dunbrik Waste Transfer Station, Main Road, Sundridge, Kent 
 
KCC/SW/0275/2012 – Installation of permanent gas flare at Land at Kemsley Paper 
Mill, Kemsley, Sittingbourne 
 
KCC/SW/0297/2012 - Extension to wood storage area and improvements to site 
access at the approved Ridham Biomass power plant (planning permission 
SW/10/774) at Ridham Dock, Iwade, Sittingbourne 
 
KCC/SW/0309/2012 – Construction and operation of a Materials Recycling Facility 
(MRF) and Waste Transfer Station (WTS) for Commercial and Industrial and 
Municipal Solid Waste and ancillary staff and fleet vehicle parking, vehicle workshop, 
2 x weighbridges, fuel tank, sprinkler tank, pump house, substation and improved 
access and office and welfare facility at Land within Ridham Dock, Iwade, 
Sittingbourne 
 
KCC/SW/0310/2012 – Variation of condition 9 of planning permission SW/05/1203 to 
amend permitted stockpile heights at Ballast Phoenix Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) 
Recycling Plant, Ridham Dock, Iwade, Sittingbourne 
 
KCC/TM/0293/2012 – Installation of an additional silo for recycled block material. 
Celcon Blockworks, Ightham 
 
KCC/TM/0296/2012 - Temporary development of an Anaerobic Digestion Plant 
together with associated infrastructure, reconfiguration of the consented Advanced 
Thermal Conversion Plant, together with associated infrastructure, the realignment of 
part of the existing access road, the relocation of existing office and welfare 
accommodation and the relocation of the existing weighbridge at Blaise Composting 
Facility, Kings Hill, West Malling 
 
KCC/TW/0259/2012 – Construction of an external lift shaft at Broomhill Bank School, 
Broomhill Road, Rusthall, Tunbridge Wells 
 
KCC/TW/0524/2011 – Retrospective change of use from breakers yard and ancillary 
storage of damaged vehicles and trailers to site office and open storage, screening 
and crushing of spoil from road works/excavations and installation of lighting at 
Westdene, Whetsted Road, Five Oak Green, Tonbridge 
 
KCC/TW/0271/2012 – Construction of three glass-reinforced plastic (GRP) kiosks to 
support sewerage infrastructure upgrades at Cranbrook Wastewater Treatment 
Works, Golford Road, Cranbrook 

 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does constitute EIA 
development and the development proposal does need to be accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement:-  
 
None 
     E8 

Page 88



E5 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2011 – SCOPING OPINIONS ADOPTED 

UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                             
 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following scoping opinions have been 

adopted under delegated powers.  

 

Background Documents -  

 

• The deposited documents. 

• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 

• DETR Circular 02/99 - Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      E9 

Page 89



Page 90

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A3 Minutes - 24 July 2012
	B1 Probity in Planning
	Item B1 Appendix 1
	Item B1 Apppendix 2
	Item B1Appendix 3

	D1 Proposal SE/12/1577 (KCC/SE/0140/2012) - Redevelopment of existing school site at Knole Academy, Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks; KCC Property and Infrastructure Group
	D2 Proposal SW/12/884 (KCC/SW/0180/2012) - Three single storey extensions to main school building and provision of new ramp to front entrance at Ethelbert Road Primary School, Ethelbert Road, Faversham; KCC Education, Learning and Skills
	E1 County matter applications

